Having sex, yes, but with whom? Inferences from fungi on the evolution of anisogamy and mating types

Sylvain Billiard^{1,*}, Manuela López-Villavicencio², Benjamin Devier³, Michael E. Hood⁴, Cécile Fairhead⁵ and Tatiana Giraud³

¹ Université Lille Nord de France, USTL, GEPV, CNRS, FRE 3268, F-59650 Villeneuve d'Ascq, France

² Origine, Structure, Evolution de la Biodiversité, UMR 7205 CNRS-MNHN, Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, CP39, 57 rue Cuvier, 75231 Paris Cedex 05, France

³ Ecologie, Systématique et Evolution, Université Paris-Sud, F-91405 Orsay cedex, France; CNRS F-91405 Orsay cedex, France

⁴ Department of Biology, McGuire Life Sciences Building, Amherst College, Amherst, MA 01002-5000, USA

⁵ Institut de Génétique et Microbiologie, Université Paris-Sud, UMR CNRS 8621, F-91405 Orsay cedex, France

(Received 3 November 2009; revised 15 July 2010; accepted 16 July 2010)

ABSTRACT

The advantage of sex has been among the most debated issues in biology. Surprisingly, the question of why sexual reproduction generally requires the combination of distinct gamete classes, such as small and large gametes, or gametes with different mating types, has been much less investigated. Why do systems with alternative gamete classes (*i.e.* systems with either anisogamy or mating types or both) appear even though they restrict the probability of finding a compatible mating partner? Why does the number of gamete classes vary from zero to thousands, with most often only two classes? We review here the hypotheses proposed to explain the origin, maintenance, number, and loss of gamete classes. We argue that fungi represent highly suitable models to help resolve issues related to the evolution of distinct gamete classes, because the number of mating types vary from zero to thousands across taxa, anisogamy is present or not, and because there are frequent transitions between these conditions. We review the nature and number of gamete classes in fungi, and we attempt to draw inferences from these data on the evolutionary forces responsible for their appearance, loss or maintenance, and number.

Key words: sexual reproduction, gametes, syngamy, mitochondrial inheritance, cytoplasmic genetic elements, gamete classes, mating types.

CONTENTS

I. Introduction	422
II. Models explaining the origin, number and loss of gamete classes	423
(1) Origin of gamete classes	423
(a) The "by-product" model	423
(b) The "selfish element" model	424
(c) The "inbreeding depression avoidance" model	424
(d) The "sex advantage enhancer" model	424
(e) The "ploidy" model	424
(f) The "organelle inheritance" model	424
(g) The "gamete size" model	425
(<i>h</i>) The "anisogamy consequence" model	426
(2) The optimal number of gamete classes	426

* Address for correspondence: (E-mail: sylvain.billiard@univ-lille1.fr)

421

	(a) The number of gamete classes depends on negative frequency-dependent selection and the effective	
	size of the population	426
	(b) The number of gamete classes depends on their mechanism of origin	426
	(c) The mating type number depends on the mating system	426
	(d) The mating type number depends on mating dynamics	427
	(e) The mating type number depends on genomic constraints	427
	(3) The loss or maintenance of gamete classes	427
	(a) Gamete classes can be lost when population or ecological factors render universal compatibility	
	advantageous	428
	(b) Gamete classes can be maintained for the same reasons they appeared	428
III.	Mating types, anisogamy and sex in fungi	428
	(1) Anisogamy and mitochondrial inheritance in fungi	428
	(2) Mating types in fungi, homothallism and heterothallism	429
IV.	Origin, number and loss of gamete classes in fungi	430
	(1) The origin and maintenance of gamete classes in fungi	430
	(a) The "organelle inheritance" model	434
	(b) The "inbreeding depression avoidance" model	434
	(c) The "sex advantage enhancer" model	434
	(d) Other models	435
	(e) An evolutionary scenario for the origin of gamete classes in fungi and in other taxa	435
	(2) The optimal number of gamete classes in fungi	436
	(3) The loss and maintenance of gamete classes in fungi	437
V.	Conclusions	437
VI.	Acknowledgements	438
VII.	References	438
VIII.	Supporting Information	442

I. INTRODUCTION

Sexual reproduction involves a variety of costs relative to asexual or clonal reproduction (e.g. energy, time, infection risk, and the "cost of males" in anisogamous species), and many investigations have attempted to find evolutionary benefits to sex that balance these costs (Otto, 2009). These investigations have mainly focused on the consequences of sex in terms of the genetic variation generated by recombinatorial meiosis during the transition from the diploid to the haploid phase of the sexual life cycle. Syngamy, the counterpart of meiosis that restores the diploid phase, has received much less attention, although the regulation of syngamy is central to the evolution of sexual eukaryotes. Indeed, syngamy is generally not random, occurring almost exclusively through the combination of distinct and alternative gamete classes, such as small and large gametes (anisogamy, i.e. a system regulating syngamy between different gamete classes that is dependent upon size) or gametes with different mating types (hereafter referring to a molecular mechanism of the gamete allowing discrimination for syngamy, independent of size dimorphism). We use the generic term "gamete classes" to refer to forms of gametes that are intercompatible but that cannot undergo syngamy within the same class, including both anisogamy and mating types as properties that may distinguish gamete classes (Fig. 1).

Many questions are raised by the existence of distinct gamete classes: how can a system that restricts the possibility of syngamy to only a subset of existing gametes in the population evolve by natural selection? In the extreme, when there are two gamete classes, each gamete can only fuse with one half of the potential gamete partners. How, then, can a system with two gamete classes arise from a system with no restrictions? And why are there thousands of gamete classes in some species while others have reverted to no size or mating type restrictions on syngamy? The most problematic case, with the existence of two gamete classes, appears paradoxically the most frequent among eukaryotes (male and female, or two mating types). Any new rare gamete class, being compatible with all other existing classes, should be selected for, leading to an increase in the number of gamete classes. Both why gamete classes exist at all and what the forces are that act upon the number of classes need to be understood from an evolutionary point of view.

Broadly satisfying answers to the questions raised above are still lacking, and groups such as fungi represent highly suitable organisms to test various hypotheses that have been put forward based upon theoretical grounds. Indeed, fungi constitute a unique kingdom where all combinations of gamete classes are represented, and with frequent transitions between different numbers of mating types and/or gamete size dimorphism. Importantly, anisogamy is decoupled from mating types in fungi, allowing separate consideration of the evolutionary forces acting on the two determinants of gamete classes. Finally, data on the number of mating types, anisogamy, and on the genetics underlying these traits are abundant for fungi.

Our aims in this review are to investigate three specific questions: (1) why did mating types and anisogamy evolve?



Fig. 1. Illustration of typical sexual reproduction, and its consequences on cytoplasmic inheritance and mate limitation, and of anisogamy and mating types. We have attempted to use unambiguous terminology. "Anisogamy" is defined as a system regulating syngamy between different gamete classes that is dependent upon size, *i.e.* with small and large gametes. Gamete size can be determined by either the haploid genotype (*e.g.* in mosses) or the diploid genotype (*e.g.* in other plants and animals) that produces the gamete. The term "mating types" describes a molecular mechanism allowing discrimination for syngamy at the level of the gamete, independent of size dimorphism. Mating type determination can also depend on the haploid genotype (*e.g.* in fungi, and pollen in gametophytic self-incompatibility in plants) or the diploid genotype (*e.g.* sporophytic self-incompatibility in plants) that produced the gamete. We finally use the generic term "gamete classes" as classes of gametes that are intercompatible but that cannot undergo syngamy within the same class, to include both anisogamy and mating types.

(2) What are the evolutionary or proximate forces controlling the number of gamete classes? In particular, why are systems with two mating types or two gamete sizes so prevalent, despite being *a priori* the least favourable case? (3) Why are gamete classes sometimes lost and sometimes maintained over long periods? We review the theoretical investigations performed so far, emphasizing their underlying hypotheses and predictions, as well as their limitations. We finally attempt to validate or refute these theories using data on fungi available in the literature.

II. MODELS EXPLAINING THE ORIGIN, NUMBER AND LOSS OF GAMETE CLASSES

(1) Origin of gamete classes

Numerous non-exclusive evolutionary models have been proposed to explain the emergence of distinct gamete classes. These models generally assume that all individuals were initially able to mate with any other in the population and that zygotes produced by the fusion of two gametes of different classes had the highest fitness. Below we outline different models attempting to explain the emergence of gamete classes, highlighting their central assumptions.

(a) The "by-product" model

This model assumes that mating types appeared as a by-product of a molecular system ensuring syngamy (Hoekstra, 1982, 1987; Hoekstra, Iwasa & Weissing, 1990). A bipolar system of recognition between gametes evolves in a sexual species by the reciprocal and differential loss of one of the two recognition molecules (a pheromone and pheromone receptor) initially carried by all gametes for signalling the initiation of syngamy. These losses lead to the coexistence of two gamete classes: one having lost the receptor and the other having lost the pheromone.

The central assumption of this model is that the molecular mechanism for recognition is originally symmetrical, with a pheromone receptor and a pheromone produced by every gamete, all gametes thus being undifferentiated. It is further assumed that the probability of mating between undifferentiated gametes may be lower than between differentiated gametes, because of self-saturation of receptors by self-produced pheromones in undifferentiated gametes.

(b) The "selfish element" model

Mating types appeared together with sexual reproduction and were selected for by providing a means for selfish genetic elements to transmit horizontally (Hoekstra, 1990; Bell, 1993). In this model a cytoplasmic genetic element that can promote fusion of its host cell with another cell appears in an asexual species. This genetic element invades the population because it is transmitted both vertically and horizontally, even if it causes a fitness cost for infected cells. This genetic element can initiate fusion of its host cell with either infected or uninfected cells. A subsequent mutation allowing a variant of this genetic element to promote fusion only with uninfected cells can then invade. The population then consists of two categories of cells: uninfected cells and infected cells that can discriminate between themselves and uninfected cells.

The model assumes that the selfish genetic element can be transmitted vertically during cell division and horizontally after cell fusion. Another assumption is that the selfish genetic element can be lost with some probability, which prevents its fixation. The fusion between cells is assumed to be costly, which allows the discriminating selfish genetic elements, inducing fusions with only uninfected cells, to increase in frequency when rare. The model predicts an asymmetry between mating types regarding the molecular recognition mechanism: only one type of gamete is expected to carry the genetic element inducing syngamy and allowing discrimination, and it should be transmitted to both daughter cells.

(c) The "inbreeding depression avoidance" model

Mating types were selected for by providing a means to avoid selfing and inbreeding depression (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1979; Uyenoyama, 1988*a*, *b*). If selfing rates and inbreeding depression are high enough, mating types that function to discriminate at the level of the diploid individual can invade a panmictic population. This is because they prevent fertilization between individuals bearing the same allele (*i.e.* promote disassortative mating), preventing selfing and thus inbreeding depression by reducing the proportion of the genetic load in a homozygous condition for genes required during the diploid phase of the life cycle.

These models assume inbreeding depression, *i.e.* that selfed or inbred offspring have a lower fitness than outbred offspring. Individuals are assumed to be diploid and inbreeding depression arises from exposure to selection of rare deleterious mutations that become homozygous in inbred offspring. These models can only be applied to species that are diploid and whose mating type determinism is controlled at the diploid level, such as plants and animals (Fig. 2).

(d) The "sex advantage enhancer" model

Mating types were selected for by maximizing the recombinatorial advantages of sex (Czárán & Hoekstra, 2004).

Several hypotheses have been invoked for the advantage of sex (DNA repair, breakdown of detrimental genetic associations and increase of genetic variance in offspring, red queen hypothesis; Agrawal, 2006). If sex is indeed advantageous for any of these reasons, syngamy must occur between gametes that are not identical haploid clones (Nauta & Hoekstra, 1992). Even DNA repair needs intact sequence fragments as templates to repair damaged genes. Czárán & Hoekstra (2004) proposed that mating types were selected for because they prevented syngamy between identical haploid clones. They showed that, if the spatial distribution of identical haploids is clumped, mating types determined at the haploid level can evolve to ensure mating between different haploid genotypes. This model is different from the "inbreeding depression avoidance" described above, which is based upon the exposure of deleterious mutations to selection when inbreeding renders them homozygous.

Within this model no deleterious mutations are assumed, the disadvantage of mating among haploid clones of the same genotype is that costs of sex are paid (loss of time and energy), while no benefit is gained by recombining between identical haploids. Sex is assumed to be advantageous. Gametes are assumed to have limited dispersal ability.

This model can only be applied to organisms like fungi or algae in which the life cycle involves replication of haploid genotypes and allows syngamy between identical haploid clones and for which the genetic determinism of mating type occurs at the haploid level (Fig. 2). The model predicts that mating types should be present in species exhibiting the following characteristics: mating types determined at the haploid level, possibility of syngamy between identical haploids, and limited gamete dispersal.

(e) The "ploidy" model

Mating types were selected for by allowing cells to respond appropriately to their ploidy status (Haag, 2007). Mating types evolved to provide a cellular signal that indicates the genomic condition of diploidy. This prevents further syngamy and indicates the potential to proceed with meiosis. Mating types are selected for that allow gametes to undergo syngamy only with another haploid cell. This model has only been articulated as a verbal argument so far.

(f) The "organelle inheritance" model

Mating types and/or anisogamy were selected for by regulating the inheritance of cytoplasmic genetic elements and avoiding the cost of intra-genomic conflict (Hurst & Hamilton, 1992; Hutson & Law, 1993; Yamauchi, 2003). One of the most important consequences of syngamy is the mixing of cytoplasmic genetic elements from different individuals. It is generally accepted that within-cell competition between different cytoplasmic elements can result in conflicting levels of selection that impair the fitness of the cell. For instance, mitochondrial mutants with an impaired contribution to the cell's performance but with more rapid within-cell replication will be able to invade. Such cases have



Fig. 2. Diagram showing the products of meiosis from two diploid genotypes, which are often able to proliferate mitotically in fungi and contribute eventually to mating. Various modes of mating are indicated by arrows originating from the far-left meiotic product. Homothallism does not require genetic differences for mating and allows union between any two cells, often including descendants of the same meiotic product as shown here (called intra-haploid mating) and leading to genome-wide homozygosity. Selfing is most commonly used to indicate mating between cells derived from two different meiotic tetrads of the same diploid genotype (although homothallism and intra-haploid mating can be considered subcategories of selfing). Outcrossing is the mating between cells derived from meioses in two different diploid genotypes. Intra-haploid mating is possible in homothallic fungi, but is prevented in heterothallic species by the existence of mating types determined at the haploid level. Plants and animals cannot perform intra-haploid mating because of the existence of separate germ lines for male and female functions. Mating types and heterothallism cannot prevent selfing in fungi, while self-incompatibility systems prevent selfing in plants.

in fact been reported (Hintz, Anderson & Horgen, 1988; Taylor, Zeyl & Cooke, 2002). This model considers that mating types have evolved in isogamous species because it was advantageous for the nuclear genome to limit genetic conflicts that arise through the mixing of diverse cytoplasmic elements by enforcing uniparental inheritance of cytoplasm. Anisogamy has also been proposed to have evolved to avoid such intra-genomic conflicts by enforcing uniparental inheritance of cytoplasm *via* only the larger gametes (Hurst & Hamilton 1992; Hurst, 1996).

This model predicts that whenever cytoplasmic mixing occurs at syngamy, gamete classes should exist and should be associated with uniparental control over inheritance of organelles.

These models generally assume at least three steps: appearance of a selfish cytoplasmic genetic element, appearance of a mutation allowing uniparental inheritance of the cytoplasm, and finally invasion by a mutation allowing syngamy to take place only between two different types of gametes, with one transmitting cytoplasm and the other not. A second assumption of these models is that zygotes formed by the fusion of gametes conferring uniparental inheritance of organelles are the fittest.

(g) The "gamete size" model

Anisogamy is assumed to have evolved because of fitness properties directly linked to gamete sizes (motility, zygote viability, and gamete numbers) (Parker, Baker & Smith, 1972; Maynard Smith, 1978, 1982; Bell, 1978; Charlesworth, 1978; Hoekstra, Janz & Schilstra, 1984; Hoekstra, 1984; Bulmer, 1994; Matsuda & Abrams, 1999; Randerson & Hurst, 1999; Dusenbery, 2000, 2006; Maire, Ackermann & Doebelli, 2001; Bulmer & Parker, 2002; Bonsall, 2006; Iver & Roughgarden, 2008; Togashi et al., 2009). This set of models considers three main features: (1) the relationship between gamete size and gamete number: small gametes are cheaper to produce and can thus be generated in larger numbers; (2) the relationship between zygote size and zygote fitness: a larger zygote has a higher fitness, imposing selection on gamete sizes for the ability to form a viable zygote; (3) the motility of gametes: the existence of both small motile and large immobile gametes increases the rate of encounters when fertilization is external. Most of these models assume the preexistence of two mating types upon which the evolution of gamete size is superimposed.

All these models agree that under more or less stringent conditions two classes of gamete sizes can evolve. However,

when the assumption of the pre-existence of two mating types is relaxed (*i.e.* when the mating is not limited *a priori* to fertilization between small and large gametes), the conditions for the evolution of anisogamy are more stringent (*e.g.* Iyer & Roughgarden, 2008). Furthermore, mating can occur only between small and large gametes in all anisogamous species and not between two large gametes (Hoekstra, 1987), but it is difficult to imagine why this could be disfavoured. Differences in motility between small and large gametes should favour fusion between different-sized gametes, but why mechanisms preventing syngamy between large gametes evolved remains to be explained (see next section). Another limitation is that these models assume that mating types predate the evolution of anisogamy, and thus how gamete classes originated remains enigmatic.

(h) The "anisogamy consequence" model

It is assumed that mating types evolved as a consequence of anisogamy (Charlesworth, 1978; Parker, 1978; Hoekstra, 1984; Maire *et al.*, 2001; Iyer & Roughgarden, 2008; Togashi *et al.*, 2009). In these models, anisogamy evolved following the scenario above but syngamy could still occur between same-size gametes, and mating types thus evolved to restrict fusion between same-size gametes. They assume that syngamy between small gametes is disadvantageous because the resulting small zygote size impairs its fitness.

The problem still remains to find conditions under which the fusion between large gametes is disadvantageous. To our knowledge, only verbal models have been proposed for the evolution of a population with two mating types from a panmictic anisogamous population, each mating type associated with a given gamete size and difference in motility. Hoekstra (1984) showed that selection should favour linkage among mating type loci and loci affecting motility and size dimorphism. But this model still assumes that two mating types predated this linkage to anisogamy, and it still does not explain why syngamy between two large immobile gametes should be disfavoured.

(2) The optimal number of gamete classes

The number of gamete classes is highly variable among species, even between closely related taxa, ranging from only two to several thousands. We review here the factors that have been suggested to affect the number of gamete classes (see Fig. 3 for a summary).

(a) The number of gamete classes depends on negative frequency-dependent selection and the effective size of the population

The main consequence of the existence of gamete classes is that a given gamete can mate with only a fraction of the available gametes in the population. Hence, in systems where gamete classes are inter-compatible, any new gamete class appearing in a population should be favoured by selection in outcrossing species because it can mate with a larger proportion of the population than can the resident gamete classes. This advantage remains as long as it is rarer than the other gamete classes (Iwasa & Sasaki, 1987). The dynamics of gamete classes in a population is thus governed by negative frequency-dependent selection, predicting the evolution of unlimited numbers of gamete classes. However, populations are finite and some gamete classes will be lost by drift. Finally, the number of gamete classes in a population is a balance between mutations (appearance of novel gamete classes), drift, and negative frequency-dependent selection.

In this scenario a cost to waiting for a mate is assumed to exist (Iwasa & Sasaki, 1987).

The balance between mutations (appearance of novel gamete classes), drift and negative frequency-dependent selection results in the following predictions for outcrossing species: (1) the higher the effective population size, the higher the number of gamete classes (Yokoyama & Hetherington, 1982); (2) gamete classes can be maintained during long evolutionary periods, leading to trans-specific polymorphism (*i.e.* with alleles older than species ages, being maintained across speciation events; Richman, 2000).

(b) The number of gamete classes depends on their mechanism of origin

Limitation of the number of gamete classes is inherent in the proposed mechanism for their origin for several of the models described in Section II.1, in particular the "selfish element" model, the "gamete size" model, the "by-product model" and the "anisogamy consequence" model. Indeed, these models explain the evolution of two gamete classes, differentiated either by the recognition molecule produced in a unifactorial system, by the ability to maximize horizontal transmission of selfish genetic elements, or the advantage of producing small or large gametes. In those cases, a third mating type or an intermediate gamete size cannot invade the population (Parker et al., 1972; Hoekstra, 1982). Under the by-product model, the appearance of a new receptor and/or pheromone will not allow the appearance of a new mating type, because the mutant would not be recognized by any of the two extant gamete types (Hoekstra, 1987). Where gamete classes evolve to regulate cytoplasmic conflicts (the "organelle inheritance" model), it has been shown that the evolution of more than two classes is also highly unlikely (Hurst, 1996). Indeed, while it is easy to imagine mechanisms allowing uniparental inheritance of cytoplasm when there are two gamete classes (one transmitting its cytoplasm, the other not), it is much harder to imagine a mechanism by which more than two gamete classes can efficiently manage to establish rules of uniparental inheritance, although rare cases have been reported (Kawano, Kuroiwa & Anderson, 1987; Meland et al., 1991; Morivama & Kawano, 2003). The hypotheses of "inbreeding depression avoidance" and "sex advantage enhancer" by contrast do not predict a priori any limitation of the number of gamete classes.

(c) The mating type number depends on the mating system

Mating systems should also be able to limit the number of mating types when they are determined at the haploid



Fig. 3. Diagram summarizing the evolutionary pressures invoked to explain the appearance, maintenance and loss of mating type systems as well as the evolution of the number of mating types. "0" means no restriction at syngamy, *i.e.* no gamete classes, "2" means two gamete classes, "++" means more than two gamete classes. The text associated with each arrow lists the evolutionary pressures suggested to explain the transition in the indicated number of gamete classes. The texts associated with the blocked arrows list evolutionary pressures that can prevent the transition in the number of gamete classes indicated.

level (Giraud *et al.*, 2008). Mating types determined at the haploid level, such as in fungi, do not prevent diploid selfing, *i.e.* syngamy between gametes produced by the same diploid individual (Giraud *et al.*, 2008). Diploid individuals in such species are necessarily heterozygous at the mating type locus and thus produce inter-compatible gamete classes. Some fungi with haploid-determined mating types in fact exhibit high rates of selfing (Giraud *et al.*, 2008). Under such highly selfing mating systems and when gamete dispersal is low, the advantage for rare alleles would also be low. Low gamete dispersal reduces the chances of encountering unrelated mating partners, and because individuals self anyway, acquisition of an allele that is new to the population grants little increase in mating opportunities. This hypothesis has only been proposed verbally so far (Giraud *et al.*, 2008).

(d) The mating type number depends on mating dynamics

The temporal dynamics of searching for a mating partner is a factor capable of maintaining only two mating types: when gametes can wait for a suitable mate, a rare mating type has little advantage (Iwasa & Sasaki, 1987). This scenario assumes that the period for mate searching should be long and the cost of mate searching should be low for the advantage of being rare to decrease, limiting invasion by new mating types.

(e) The mating type number depends on genomic constraints

The molecular mechanisms underlying mating specificities may impede the emergence of new mating types. It may just be too difficult to generate a new variant that is simultaneously compatible with both pre-existing mating types by one-step mutations: for instance, mutations may be needed simultaneously in both the pheromone and the receptor genes, or the new variant will not be able to mate. If recognition between a specific pheromone and a specific receptor is needed for syngamy, any mutants in the pheromone or receptor genes may even be incompatible with all extant mating types (Hoekstra, 1987). The number of mating types can also be greatly influenced by recombination suppression around mating type loci where recessive deleterious alleles are fixed in the permanently heterozygous state. Such 'sheltered' load can impede invasion by new mating types because of shared deleterious mutations in linkage to the ancestral and the derived mating types (Uyenoyama, 1997; Richman, 2000). In the extreme case, a whole chromosome pair evolves into highly dimorphic sex chromosomes with very little recombination between them. The larger the degree of divergence between the sex chromosomes the more likely that a new gamete class will be incompatible with half of the potential gametes because of exposing deleterious mutations that were previously sheltered in the permanently heterozygous condition, hence limiting the appearance rate of new mating types.

In species with only two mating types, it is predicted that sheltered load will be found near mating type loci, or that new mating types are difficult to evolve by simple mutations.

(3) The loss or maintenance of gamete classes

While the number of gamete classes is thus under a variety of potential evolutionary pressures, the question of why gamete classes are maintained at all remains highly enigmatic under multiple scenarios mentioned above. We define here the "loss of gamete classes" as evolution leading to a lack of discrimination for syngamy: every haploid cell can undergo syngamy with any other haploid cell in the population, including with genetically identical haploids. We review here the factors that may be responsible for the loss or the maintenance of gamete classes (see Fig. 3 for a summary).

(a) Gamete classes can be lost when population or ecological factors render universal compatibility advantageous

When there are gamete classes, a given gamete cannot mate with a fraction of the population. If there is a cost to waiting for a mate, a universally compatible gamete could invade the population because of the advantage of being able to cross with all individuals, including itself. The conditions allowing for loss of gamete classes have been extensively investigated in the case of self-incompatibility systems in plants (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1979; Porcher & Lande, 2005). If, for instance there is a limited probability of encountering mates and thus a risk of not finding a compatible mate at all, being able to self may represent reproductive insurance. This is similar to self-compatibility evolving in plants due to pollen limitation, where female reproductive output is decreased because all ovules cannot be fertilized (Porcher & Lande, 2005). The advantage of finding compatible mates increases when the number of gamete classes is small (Charlesworth & Charlesworth, 1979). If there are two gamete classes in the population, a universally compatible gamete, when rare (after its appearance by mutation for instance), may mate with twice as many individuals as either of the two existing gamete classes. By contrast, if there is an infinitely large number of gamete classes, a universally compatible gamete has no outcrossing advantage relative to other gamete types. So, if the advantage of being universally compatible is so high, why are gamete classes maintained, sometimes over long evolutionary periods?

(b) Gamete classes can be maintained for the same reasons they appeared

Anisogamy is certainly maintained because gametes of an intermediate size would be disfavoured (Parker *et al.*, 1972). By contrast, the only theoretical models investigating the maintenance of mating type systems focused on selfincompatibility systems in plants and invoked genetic load as the main force (Porcher & Lande, 2005). We have found no models that investigate the importance of inbreeding depression or the advantage of sex when the life cycle is mainly haploid, but it seems reasonable to suggest that if these forces can promote the emergence of gamete classes, then they can also contribute to their maintenance.

III. MATING TYPES, ANISOGAMY AND SEX IN FUNGI

The different models outlined above regarding the origin, loss or maintenance, and number of gamete classes make different assumptions and predictions, which we aim here to assess using available data for fungi. Fungi are of particular interest regarding the rules of compatibility between gametes, and it has been a long-standing challenge to integrate concepts of sex in fungi with those developed for plants and animals (Link, 1929). We summarize below the most prominent features of the regulation of syngamy in fungi, which necessarily leads to some over-simplification. Most terms are defined and illustrated in Figs 1 and 4. We compiled literature data regarding systems of mating type determination, mode of reproduction, and number of mating types in the two main groups of fungi, the ascomycetes (many moulds and yeasts) and the basidiomycetes (smut, rusts and mushrooms), and we present these traits in a phylogenetic context (Fig. 5; supporting information available online, see Section VII).

(1) Anisogamy and mitochondrial inheritance in fungi

Filamentous ascomycetes are most often anisogamous (Debuchy, Berteaux-Lecellier & Silar, 2010), while yeasts and basidiomycetes are frequently isogamous, although exceptions exist in both groups. Many filamentous ascomycetes produce small "spermatia" as dispersing gametes (also called microconidia) and more complex and sessile "female" structures (e.g. ascogonia), functioning as large gametes (Debuchy et al., 2010). Mitochondria are then inherited via the female-like mating partner (i.e. analogous to maternal inheritance), although some paternal leakage can occur (Barroso & Labarere, 1995; Barr, Neiman & Taylor, 2005; Xu, 2005). Importantly, anisogamous ascomycetes are almost never dioecious; haploid individuals of each mating type produce both large and small gametes, except for a very few cases with "female-sterile strains" (Leslie & Raju, 1985; Tredway, Stevenson & Burpee, 2003).

In isogamous yeasts, mitochondria are inherited from both cells involved in syngamy ("biparentally" hereafter) and then actively segregate during subsequent divisions (Berger & Yaffe, 2000). In basidiomycetes, sexual reproduction is most often achieved by the fusion of two haploid mycelia or similar-sized cells. In this group isogamy is the rule and most often there are no differentiated cells playing the role of gametes (Casselton, 2002). Mitochondria can be inherited either uni- or biparentally in the fused cells (Barr et al., 2005; Xu, 2005; Barroso & Labarere, 1995). When inheritance is uniparental at plasmogamy, it can be controlled by mating type. When inheritance is biparental at plasmogamy, they nevertheless usually segregate rapidly during the subsequent mitoses, most probably by an active mechanism (Jin & Horgen, 1994). The "Buller phenomenon" in basidiomycetes describes the case where a heterokaryotic mycelium (i.e. with two different haploid nuclei per cell) can fertilize a homokaryotic mycelium (Buller, 1931; Callac et al., 2006) and organelle uniparental inheritance is ensured without mating type playing a role. Mitochondria in the resulting heterokaryotic mycelium are then those of the recipient homokaryotic mycelium. There are some cases of anisogamy in basidiomycetes, such as in some rusts (Bruckart et al., 2010), but the rules of mitochondrial inheritance are unknown.



MAT2

(MAT2)

Bipolar or unifactorial (one locus, two mating types or more) Tetrapolar or bifactorial (two loci, numerous mating types)

(A)

MAT2

MAT2

MAT2

MATA

MAT1

(MAT[.]

MAT1

MAT3



(& basidiomycetes)

& ascomvcetes



Pseudo-homothallism due to heterokaryon with two nuclei of opposite mating types in a spore; found in rare cases only



Fig. 4. Summary of modes of syngamy in fungi. (A) Heterothallism; (B) different forms of homothallism.

(2) Mating types in fungi, homothallism and heterothallism

In addition to anisogamy when it is present, strict molecular mechanisms exist in most fungi governing which haploid cells can fuse, controlled by mating type (MAT) loci that present two or many alternative forms. Mating types are not associated with anisogamy (Fig. 4) and all genotypes in anisogamous fungi are able to produce large and small gametes.

Mating type determinism is regulated strictly in the haploid stage in fungi, in contrast to most well-studied eukaryotes, in which syngamy compatibility is determined by developmental differences between the sexes or male and female organs in the diploid stage. In fungal species where syngamy is restricted by the MAT locus, successful fusion of gametes can occur between haploids carrying different mating type alleles; this is called heterothallism. Compatibility can be determined by alleles at a single locus, a condition called unifactorial (or bipolar) heterothallism, or by alleles at two unlinked loci, called bifactorial (or tetrapolar) heterothallism. Most heterothallic ascomycete fungi present a unifactorial system, regulated by highly dissimilar mating type genes present at the same locus, referred to as "idiomorphs" rather than alleles due to the uncertainty of their origin by common descent (Debuchy et al., 2010; Butler, 2007). These genes code for transcription factors that induce, in particular, the production of pheromones and pheromone receptors. Although most of the ascomycete species present only two alternative idiomorphs, rare cases of a single MAT locus with more than two mating types have been reported in this group (Fig. 5A).

By contrast, mating types in basidiomycetes correspond to different alleles of the same genes (*i.e.* they are not idiomorphs; Devier et al., 2009), coding for pheromones, pheromone receptors, and homeodomain proteins. Most basidiomycete fungi present bifactorial systems, with the pheromone-related and homeodomain genes at unlinked loci. The MAT loci in bifactorial basidiomycetes are often highly polymorphic, yielding species with many allelic forms that combine to produce thousands of mating types (Casselton & Kues, 2007). Roughly a quarter of basidiomycete species present a unifactorial heterothallism, which is either due to the tight linkage of the two loci containing pheromone-related genes and homeodomain genes, or the loss of function of one of the two loci contributing to mating type specificity (Fraser et al., 2007). Unifactorial basidiomycetes show either two or more mating types, while bifactorial basidiomycetes always show more than two (Fig. 5C).

In contrast to heterothallism described above, in which syngamy can only occur between haploid cells carrying different mating type alleles, many fungi are homothallic, especially among ascomycetes, meaning in the strict historical (experimental) sense that a haploid individual is able to mate

with its own mitotic descendants. Homothallism is often called "self-compatibility" in the fungal literature, but we avoid this term here. "Self-compatibility" indeed can be confused with selfing ability in diploid plants and animals, which involves syngamy between the products of separate meioses and has different genetic consequences than the genome-wide homozygosity resulting from "intra-haploid mating" by homothallic fungi (Giraud *et al.*, 2008) (Fig. 2). Furthermore, the term "self-compatible" may suggest that the evolutionary cause responsible for homothallism was to allow for intra-haploid mating, which is not necessarily true. Homothallism can indeed be viewed also as a lack of discrimination at syngamy: each haploid is compatible with all other haploids in the population in homothallic species, including genetically identical haploids.

Three different proximal mechanisms can cause homothallism, which occurs mostly in ascomycetes (Fig. 5A). The most frequent proximal cause is that each haploid possesses the two idiomorphs in its genome (Yun *et al.*, 1999; Lin & Heitman, 2007). It has never been investigated however whether both mating type idiomorphs are expressed in all cells or if they are expressed alternately. Recent data on mutants however suggest that both pheromones and pheromone receptors would be constitutively expressed (Alby, Schaefer & Bennet, 2009). In some fungi, mainly yeasts, homothallism may arise from mating-type switching: in some yeasts the expressed MAT locus can be replaced during mitotic divisions by translocation involving either one of the two flanking silent *MAT* idiomorphs (Strathern *et al.*, 1982; Butler, 2007). Another, rarer, type of homothallism is to allow for mating between cells carrying a single and identical *MAT* allele, which is called "same-sex mating" (Lin & Heitman, 2007). Phylogenies of ascomycetes and basid-iomycetes show that homothallism has evolved at least a dozen times independently. Some other fungal species are referred to as "pseudohomothallic", which involves cytological processes that package nuclei from a single meiosis, but with different mating types, into a single spore (Lin & Heitman, 2007; Raju & Perkins, 1994; Rizet, 1943). Thus pseudohomothallism is more analogous to diploid selfing, and even intra-tetrad mating, and does not lead to the same genetic consequences as intra-haploid mating (Lin & Heitman, 2007; Raju & Perkins, 1994; Rizet, 1943).

IV. ORIGIN, NUMBER AND LOSS OF GAMETE CLASSES IN FUNGI

(1) The origin and maintenance of gamete classes in fungi

Fungi are relevant organisms to the understanding of why systems might evolve that impose limitations at syngamy, *i.e.* to study the emergence and maintenance of gamete classes, particularly since anisogamy and mating types in fungi are decoupled (Fig. 4) and variable (Fig. 5). Among all the models

Fig. 5. Phylogenies indicating mating type systems in fungi and the number of mating types. For further details and references, see supplementary material available online (see Section VIII for details). (A) Phylogeny of ascomycetes based on previously published phylogenies showing the diversity of reproductive systems. In all ascomycetes, compatibility is determined by a single mating-type locus with two different idiomorphs/alleles, except in *Glomerella cingulata* where multiple alternative alleles exist. In heterothallic species only one of the two MAT idiomorphs is present in each haploid. Pseudohomothallic species produce spores with two nuclei of opposite mating types. Homothallic species bear two MAT genes in a single haploid either linked in the same chromosome or in different chromosomes. Same-sex-mating species are homothallic species where only one MAT idiomorph has been found in the genome. We use the term "same-sex mating" both for species undergoing mating between identical haploids carrying a single mating type, such as in some homothallic Neurospora species, and for species where genetically different cells carrying the same mating type idiomorph/allele are able to fuse, such as in Cryptococcus (see C). Marginal systems occur in some species where low proportions of strains present a different system. We also indicate species where regions of suppressed recombination around the mating locus have been described. Anisogamy is the rule in ascomycetes, is independent of mating type, and mitochondria are maternally inherited in most cases. Where data were not available for a particular character, no symbol is shown. (B) Phylogeny of yeast ascomycetes (Saccharomycotina) based on previously published phylogenies showing the diversity of reproductive systems. The two MAT alleles are idiomorphs coding for regulators of transcription. Homothallic species bear three MAT genes in a single haploid, one copy being expressed, the other two being silent and able to replace the expressed copy. In heterothallic species only one of two MAT idiomorphs is present in each haploid, except in the species with the symbol "3" that bear three copies but without being able to switch mating types. Same-sex mating species are homothallic species where only one MAT idiomorph has been found in the genome. Yeasts are isogamous, mitochondria are inherited biparentally and are then actively segregated. Where data were not available for a particular character, no symbol is represented. (C) Phylogeny of basidiomycetes based on previously published phylogenies showing the diversity of reproductive systems. In heterothallic species the MAT locus includes genes coding for pheromone receptors and pheromones, as well as homeodomain proteins, either at a single locus (unifactorial species) or at two distinct loci (bifactorial species). Pseudohomothallic species produce spores with two nuclei of opposite mating type. Same-sex mating species are homothallic species with a single MAT allele, but able to mate with cells carrying identical MAT alleles. The numbers of MAT alleles are indicated (two or multiple alleles). We also indicate species where regions of suppressed recombination around the mating locus have been described. Most basidiomycetes are isogamous, plasmogamy occurring by fusion between hyphae, without differentiation of particular cells into gametes. Mitochondria can be inherited either uni- or biparentally at plasmogamy (indicated by different arrow types) in the fused cells. When inheritance is biparental, mitochondria from the two parents are however usually segregated rapidly during the subsequent mitoses, probably by an active mechanism. Where data were not available for a particular character, no symbol is represented.



Fig. 5. Legend on previous page.



Fig. 5. (Cont.)



Fig. 5. (Cont.)

proposed to explain the evolution of gamete classes, several do not seem consistent with observations in fungi. We first argue that one of the most widely accepted hypotheses, the "organelle inheritance" model, certainly does not hold true for fungi. We then evaluate the other models, particularly the "inbreeding depression avoidance" and "sex advantage enhancer" models. Finally, we propose an evolutionary scenario for the emergence of gamete classes in fungi.

(a) The "organelle inheritance" model

The "organelle inheritance" model is one of the most generally accepted hypotheses to explain the emergence of gamete classes. This model predicts an association between gamete classes and the control of inheritance of organelles in species where plasmogamy occurs at syngamy. Most ascomycetes are anisogamous, with inheritance of mitochondria through the larger gamete, even if some paternal leakage of mitochondrial inheritance through the smaller gamete does occur (Barr et al., 2005; Xu, 2005; Milgroom & Lipari, 1993; Lee & Taylor, 1993). This case could therefore appear consistent with the "organelle inheritance" model (Hurst & Hamilton, 1992). It is however not simply the size difference between the gametes that allows maternal inheritance in ascomycetes because there is an active molecular mechanism ensuring that mitochondria are inherited from only one gamete even when isogamy is forced (Lee & Taylor, 1993). Anisogamy therefore does not seem necessary to ensure uniparental inheritance and appears only to be associated with molecular mechanisms controlling organelle transmission.

In fact, fungi show numerous cases of mitochondrial uniparental inheritance that are completely independent of any gamete class (either anisogamy or mating type), such as in veasts and in basidiomycetes. In yeasts, syngamy is isogamous and mitochondria actively segregate during the first few rounds of cell division (Berger & Yaffe, 2000). Regarding basidiomycetes, Hurst & Hamilton (1992) argued that they did not undergo fusional sex, *i.e.* that there was no cytoplasmic mixing and therefore no need to control selfish genetic elements. This may be true for some mushrooms in which plasmogamy is immediately followed by reciprocal backwards nuclear migration (but not mitochondrial migration) along the mycelia, but not for many other basidiomycete species (Barroso & Labarere, 1995; Alexopoulos, Mims & Blackwell, 1996). In many basidiomycetes, mating occurs between yeast-like cells and cytoplasmic fusion occurs (Wilch, Ward & Castle, 1992). Furthermore, even when mating occurs between mycelia, there are many cases where a filamentous heterokaryon grows after the syngamy of haploid cells, containing the two parental haploid nuclei and possibly the two parental cytoplasms, without any nuclear migration (Hintz et al., 1988). The mode of inheritance of cytoplasmic elements is therefore highly relevant in most species of basidiomycetes. In several species the mating type loci in fact control mitochondrial inheritance (Barr et al., 2005; Wilch et al., 1992; Yan & Xu, 2003) (Fig. 5C). There are nevertheless a number of basidiomycete species with biparental mitochondrial inheritance, at least immediately following syngamy (Barr *et al.*, 2005; Wilch *et al.*, 1992; Aanen *et al.*, 2004) (Fig. 5C). Mitochondrial heteroplasmy usually resolves after a number of mitotic divisions in the hyphae, more rapidly than expected by simple stochastic processes, suggesting that another active mechanism exists to regulate cytoplasmic conflicts, here again unrelated to gamete classes (Hintz *et al.*, 1988; Barroso & Labarere, 1995, 1997). In cases where a germinating spore or a heterokaryotic mycelium fertilizes a haploid mycelium (Buller, 1931; Callac *et al.*, 2006), there also appear to be rules controlling mitochondrial inheritance independent of the size of the cells or their mating type. Basidiomycetes therefore also seem to stand in contradiction to the "organelle inheritance" model, because gamete classes do not appear to be needed to regulate cytoplasmic conflicts.

(b) The "inbreeding depression avoidance" model

The "inbreeding depression avoidance" models were originally developed to explain the appearance of self-incompatibility systems in angiosperms. Some investigations have shown that inbreeding depression exists in fungi (Leslie & Raju, 1985; Xu, 1995). Ascomycete fungi, however, are haploid for most of their life cycle, which should purge deleterious mutations and thus prevent an inbreeding depression effect. Furthermore, these models cannot fully be applied to fungi because unifactorial, and to a lesser extent bifactorial, haploid mating types cannot prevent diploid selfing (Giraud et al., 2008; Fig. 2). Indeed, because each diploid genotype is necessarily heterozygous at the MAT locus in heterothallic species, it will produce haploid gametes with different mating types that are thus able to mate (i.e. equivalent to diploid selfing). In fact several fungi are known to undergo high rates of diploid selfing while having mating types (Giraud et al., 2008) (Fig. 2). Inbreeding depression therefore cannot be a force acting on the origin or maintenance of mating types determined at the haploid level, such as in fungi.

(c) The "sex advantage enhancer" model

The "sex advantage enhancer" model, where mating between unlike gametes facilitates a variety of fitness benefits afforded by sexual reproduction, seems more relevant to fungi because many identical haploid clones of a given gamete can in fact be produced and may not necessarily disperse (Day & Garber, 1988). Mating types may well then have evolved in fungi to prevent intra-haploid mating, *i.e.* syngamy between strictly identical haploid clones, which would have no advantage over asexual reproduction. Recombination between genetically identical haploid yeasts indeed seems to be costly (Birdsell & Willis, 1996). Homothallic fungi are capable of intra-haploid mating, but they may not constitute an invalidation of this hypothesis because they may still outcross most often in nature if gametes disperse before mating. In fact, it has been shown for some homothallic species that mating is preferentially disassortative (*i.e.* between genetically different individuals); this is called "relative heterothallism" (Pontecorvo et al., 1953). Also, in some species considered as homothallic in the

laboratory the great majority of syngamy in nature occurs between cells that are distinct meitoic products rather than mitotic descendants of a common clone. The yeast Saccharomyces cerevisae for instance, capable of MAT switching in the laboratory, undergoes mostly intra-tetrad mating in some natural populations, *i.e.* syngamy between cells that are distinct meitoic products rather than mitotic descendants of a common clone (Katz Ezov et al., 2010). However, some homothallic fungi, such as the homothallic Neurospora species, rely mainly on intra-haploid mating for reproduction. These species do not produce asexual conidia and they do not seem to outcross in nature (Glass, Jacobson & Shiu, 2000). Sexual reproduction by intra-haploid mating could provide some advantages. This is the case for instance when other traits, like resistance, become linked to sexual reproduction. Sexual spores are indeed often more resistant and can survive more adverse conditions than asexual conidia (Aanen & Hoekstra, 2007). Sex is also associated with cell rejuvenation, avoiding senescence (Sinclair, Mills & Guarente, 1998; Haedens, Malagnac & Silar, 2005). For some species, it has been found that slightly deleterious mutations accumulate at a lower rate when individuals reproduce by intra-haploid mating compared with asexual reproduction (Bruggeman et al., 2003; Aanen & Hoekstra, 2007). Finally, in some ascomycetes infected by RNA viruses, the transmission of the virus will be vertical only *via* the asexual conidiospores while no transmission is observed to the sexual progeny (Rogers, Buck & Brasier, 1986; Coenen, Kevei, & Hoekstra, 1997).

(d) Other models

The assumptions or predictions of the other hypotheses invoked to explain the origin of mating types do not seem to hold in fungi.

The "by-product" model predicts that a given mating type should produce either pheromones or receptors, but not both. All fungal species in fact can produce both pheromones and receptors. Furthermore, the existence of fungal species capable of "same-sex mating" (Fig. 5), *i.e.* having a single *MAT* allele in their genome and able to mate with cells carrying the same *MAT* allele, indicates that there is no absolute requirement to harbour different molecules to undergo syngamy.

The "selfish element" model also appears inconsistent with symmetry in the signalling for mating compatibility in most fungal systems, where members of all gamete classes carry both pheromones and pheromone receptors. For the "self-ish element" model, only infected cells should be expected actively to provide signalling mechanisms that promote syngamy. Also, for this model to operate, the selfish genetic element must itself induce syngamy and be transmitted to all daughter cells, or at least to more than half of the daughter cells. However, in all fungal mating type systems, the transmission of mating types is Mendelian. The MAT genes thus do not benefit from syngamy more than the rest of the nuclear genome.

The "ploidy" model is consistent with the fact that one of the current roles of mating types in fungi is to induce changes in the physiology and gene expression patterns of the organism (Stanton & Hull, 2007). However, this model does not seem compatible with observations, as the numerous homothallic fungi manage to respond developmentally in an appropriate manner to when they are haploid or diploid, in the absence of any differences at their mating type locus.

The "gamete size" model and the "anisogamy consequence" model are difficult to test in fungi because there are no available data on the relationship between zygote fitness and its size and there have not been multiple transitions between anisogamy and isogamy.

(e) An evolutionary scenario for the origin of gamete classes in fungi and in other taxa

Support for the "organelle inheritance" model was claimed from various taxa: in fact, a correlation between uniparental inheritance of organelles and anisogamy, or with mating types in isogamous species, seems to exist (Hurst & Hamilton, 1992). However, such a correlation is not indicative of cause and effect, and an alternative hypothesis is that the mechanisms controlling organelle inheritance evolved by being superimposed upon pre-existing gamete classes that evolved for other reasons. This evolutionary sequence was suggested by Maynard Smith & Szathmary (1995, p. 162). In fact, there are several examples in fungi where mitochondrial inheritance is uniparental although apparently not controlled by gamete classes, either anisogamy or mating type. The hypothesis that gamete classes pre-date control over organelle inheritance is also consistent with paternal inheritance or biparental inheritance of mitochondria and chloroplasts in gymnosperms (Reboud & Zevl, 1994) and some chytrid fungi (Borkhardt & Olson, 1983), because then it is not the gamete class (in this case, gamete size) that forces uniparental inheritance. In the myxomycete *Didymium iridis*, uniparental inheritance is frequent while not being associated with any known gamete class (Silliker, Liles & Monroe, 2002; Scheer & Silliker, 2006).

Under such an evolutionary sequence, it is still important to explain the emergence of gamete classes before the evolution of uniparental inheritance of organelles. We argue that two evolutionary models appear the best candidates for explaining the emergence of mating types: the "inbreeding depression avoidance" model and "sex advantage enhancer' model. Which of these two models is the most relevant may depend on the organism being considered and whether mating compatibility is determined at the haploid or diploid level in particular. The "inbreeding depression avoidance" model has indeed received much attention in the literature as an explanation for the evolution of self-incompatibility in angiosperms, but it may not be generally applicable as the haploid determinism of mating compatibility in fungi does not prevent diploid selfing. Indeed, deleterious mutations can still be exposed to selection by selfing in heterothallic fungal species: the requirement for mating between haploid cells carrying different mating types does not prevent inbreeding depression. The "sex advantage enhancer" model has received much less attention, but we expect that it could be of fundamental importance for organisms like fungi or

some algae having a mating type determined at the haploid stage. For such organisms, mating types would be needed to benefit from recombination, by preventing syngamy between identical haploids. In organisms such as plants or animals, intra-haploid mating is impossible, rendering the "sex advantage enhancer" model irrelevant to explain the maintenance of mating types. For such organisms, the "inbreeding depression avoidance" model appears the most valid. Regarding the evolution of anisogamy, we suggest that the best candidate would be the "gamete size" model: large and small gametes evolved by disruptive selection on gamete size.

(2) The optimal number of gamete classes in fungi

Beyond the evolutionary forces responsible for the emergence of gamete classes, it is interesting to investigate those acting on their numbers, and in particular why some species retain only two gamete classes even though it appears a priori to be the least favourable case. The existence of only two gamete sizes is understandable as it has been shown that selection will not then favour the evolution of a third class of intermediate size. The most puzzling problem is therefore the abundance of species with only two mating types. It is striking on Fig. 5 that almost all hemiascomycetes and ascomycetes have only two mating types or are homothallic (except Glomerella cingulata, Fig. 5A, B), while the number of mating types varies from two to thousands in basidiomycetes, with frequent transitions between two and many (Fig. 5C). Fungi thus are highly suitable to investigate the factors responsible for variability in mating type number.

Frequency-dependent selection should act to increase the number of mating types because any new rare allele could potentially mate with any other gamete in the population. Several of the evolutionary forces that may explain the emergence of gamete classes would also limit their number to two, in particular the "by-product" model, the "selfish element" model, the "gamete size" model, and the "anisogamy consequence" model. However, as we have seen above, these models are probably not the best explanations for the emergence of mating types in fungi. Under the "organelle inheritance" model, it also seems unlikely that more than two gamete classes can evolve. However, this model cannot explain the maintenance of only two mating types in ascomycetes, hemiascomycetes, and some basidiomycetes because inheritance of mitochondria in these groups is not controlled by mating type. Hence, it appears that the factors limiting the number of mating types in many fungi to only two are not generally also the evolutionary forces responsible for their origin. It may nevertheless be the case that once uniparental inheritance is associated with mating type, as in some basidiomycetes (Fig. 5), the emergence of a third mating type would be selected against (Hurst, 1996).

How can we explain the prevalence of only two mating types in hemiascomycetes and ascomycetes whereas their number varies between two and thousands in basidiomycetes? The main difference between ascomycetes and basidiomycetes lies in the genetic determinism of mating types. In basidiomycetes, it can be imagined that different specificities can easily evolve because haploid cells need only to carry different alleles to be compatible with extant mating types (Kohte, Gola & Wendland, 2003). In ascomycetes, mating types are idiomorphs that encode transcription factors inducing pheromone and receptor gene expression. The emergence of a third mating type in ascomycetes depends on the mechanism of recognition at syngamy. If syngamy does not occur unless a specific pheromone has activated its specific corresponding receptor, a third mating type cannot evolve, because mutants will not be able to mate with any extant mating type (Hoekstra, 1987). The maintenance of only two mating types in ascomycetes may thus only be due to proximal constraints, although more experimental work is required. There is a single example in ascomycetes (G. cingulata) where they have overcome this constraint (Fig. 5A), although the underlying molecular basis is not known.

Within basidiomycetes, the number of mating types is highly variable, ranging from two to thousands (Fig. 5C). Frequency-dependent selection is likely to be responsible for increasing the number of mating types, but several forces could act to prevent an increase. The genetic basis of mating type determinism is relevant: for a given number of alleles at each of the two loci involved in mating type determination, unifactorial systems will generate less mating type phenotypes in the population than bifactorial systems, which have recombination between the loci. Some unifactorial species however have more than a dozen mating types and linkage between the two MAT loci has evolved several times independently (Fig. 5C), suggesting that genetic determinism (*i.e.* unifactorial *versus* bifactorial) does not represent a strong constraint, and may even be selected for promoting a high or a low number of mating types.

Restriction of the number of mating types to only two in some basidiomycetes may be due to mating systems that are highly selfing, where the existence of mating types prevents fusion between identical haploids but a third mating type would have little advantage because each diploid individual is heterozygous for mating type and can self (Giraud et al., 2008). Unfortunately, data to link the number of mating types with the selfing rate in natural populations of basidiomycetes are still too scarce to test this hypothesis. In basidiomycetes, hyphae can grow short distances to contact mates and thus some mate-finding effort is possible which could limit the advantage of rare mating types. However, data are not available on the costs associated with waiting for a mate. Finally, regions of suppressed recombination are known to exist around mating type loci in several fungal species (Fraser & Heitman, 2005; Hood, 2002) (Fig. 5). Deleterious alleles linked to mating type have been reported, particularly in species with only two mating types (Oudemans et al., 1998; Thomas et al., 2003; Callac et al., 2006). Phylogenies of mating type alleles in the basidiomycete Coprinus cinereus have longer terminal branches than expected (May et al., 1999), which could be a signature of a decreasing rate of mating type appearance because of deleterious mutations associated with the mating type loci. Such sheltered load

may be a major force limiting the number of mating types (Uyenoyama, 1997), perhaps even to two. Several forces may therefore act on the number of mating types in fungi, but more data are needed.

(3) The loss and maintenance of gamete classes in fungi

The loss of gamete classes is evolution leading to a lack of discrimination for syngamy and this should be favoured when there is a low probability or a cost to waiting to find a compatible mate. Fungi appear to be unusual in that multiple independent losses of gamete classes have occurred. Same-sex mating in fungi indeed conforms to our definition of loss of gamete class (Figs 4 and 5). The most frequent form of homothallism, resulting from the presence of two intercompatible MAT idiomorphs in the haploid genome is one mechanism by which this is achieved (Figs 4 and 5). However it is not known whether differential temporal expression occurs in these cases. By contrast, hemiascomycete species that exhibit mating type switching are not compatible with all other cells in the population but only with those expressing the alternative mating type. The phylogenies of ascomycetes and basidiomycetes show a large number of independent origins of homothallism (Fig. 5), and rare reverse transitions from homothallism to heterothallism have also been proposed in ascomycetes (Galagan et al., 2005).

Because of the potential advantages of universal compatibility during mating, homothallism can easily be selected for in fungi (Nauta & Hoekstra, 1992). In homothallic species, there is no restriction at syngamy except anisogamy, which is not genetically determined to distinguish haploid genotypes: every haploid has the potential to mate with any other haploid in the population, including itself. Homothallism is often presented as an adaptation in fungi to allow a haploid-selfing mating, but the reverse interpretation is also interesting to consider: homothallism may have evolved in outcrossing species to allow universal compatibility among gametes (Giraud et al., 2008). An experimental study has shown that, under experimental conditions mimicking natural conditions, pseudo-homothallic spores of the basidiomycete Agaricus bisporus do not self but instead fertilize homokaryons (Callac et al., 2006). In fact, little evidence of pseudohomothallic reproduction was found in a spatial-temporal analysis of natural populations (Xu, Desmerger, & Callac, 2002). These results are consistent with homothallism or pseudohomothallism having evolved to achieve universal compatibility and not to allow selfing or intra-haploid mating. Other observations however are more consistent with homothallism having evolved, or at least being maintained, to allow intra-haploid mating and to benefit from the advantages of sex not related to recombination. For instance, homothallic Neurospora species do not produce any trichogynes or conidia (Glass & Kuldau, 1992), i.e. the male and female organs allowing cross-fertilization. Mating between different mycelia is therefore prevented; intra-haploid mating is the only possible sexual reproduction in these species, and occurs regularly.

Again, when comparing the phylogenies of basidiomycetes and ascomycetes, it is striking that the evolution of homothallism differs between the two groups (Fig. 5). In basidiomycetes, all species are heterothallic with a few exceptions, while in ascomycetes homothallism evolved several times independently, different proximal causes likely being responsible (linkage of idiomorphs, same-sex mating, and mating type switching). Reverse transition from homothallism to heterothallism has also been proposed in ascomycetes (Galagan et al., 2005). In fact, it seems that ascomycetes and basidiomycetes use different strategies to increase the probability of compatibility at syngamy: many basidiomycetes have high numbers of mating types, facilitating the finding of compatible mates but preventing intra-haploid mating. By contrast, in ascomycetes molecular constraints linked to the molecular mechanisms of gamete recognition may mean that homothallism is the only way to achieve universal compatibility. Homothallism however allows intra-haploid mating, precluding many of the advantages of sex. If gametes are dispersed and do not remain clumped together, this may not be a significant problem. Evolution towards homothallism or the maintenance of heterothallism may therefore depend on gamete dispersal in ascomycetes. Unfortunately, no data are available to test this suggestion. Inbreeding depression could also play a role in the persistence of mating type systems in fungi. Ascomycetes are haploid for most of their life cycle while basidiomycetes are dikaryotic, which could allow the accumulation of more deleterious alleles in the latter, preventing the emergence of homothallism in the latter group. Again, however, not enough data are available yet to disentangle these hypotheses.

V. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Hurst & Hamilton (1992) defined gamete classes based on their evolutionary origin: "sexes" when gamete classes determine the uniparental inheritance of organelles, and "mating types" when gamete classes allow the avoidance of inbreeding depression. We suggest that these definitions are not adequate for several reasons. First, there remain doubts about the sequence of events leading to the evolution of gamete classes and uniparental inheritance. Second, at least in some organisms, uniparental inheritance of organelles is not associated with a particular gamete class. Hence, even when uniparental inheritance is observed, it is not possible to define different sexes on the basis of this observation alone. Third, in some taxa it can be difficult to determine whether organelle inheritance is uniparental, and whether it is associated with a gamete class, such that this definition of "sex" is not appropriate. Finally, the definition of "mating types" as a means for avoiding inbreeding depression can neglect other evolutionary forces acting at the origin of gamete classes, for instance in the "sex advantage enhancer" model. In conclusion, it is not appropriate

or useful to define "sexes" and "mating types" on the basis of the evolutionary causes at their origin. Instead, we propose the definition of "sexes" as gamete classes based on morphological differences, such as size, and "mating types" as cases where molecular mechanisms restrain gamete compatibilities independent of size dimorphism. These definitions are more relevant to empiricists and are in more general agreement with how these terms are used across other branches of biology. Moreover, such a definition for "sexes" makes simple the relationships between gamete classes and gender evolution.

- (2) Regarding the forces at the origin of gamete classes, we have attempted to show that Fungi represents a unique kingdom to test various hypotheses. We conclude that the "organelle inheritance" model may not be as general as previously considered to explain either the emergence of mating types or anisogamy. Uniparental inheritance of organelles may have acted on pre-existing gamete classes. The most plausible explanations for the evolution of mating types are the "inbreeding depression avoidance" model and "sex advantage enhancer" model, and the most acceptable model for the evolution of anisogamy is the "gamete size" model.
- (3) Regarding the forces responsible for the number of mating types, we argue that Fungi also allow us to disentangle various hypotheses. High numbers of mating types may have evolved in basidiomycetes in response to selection for increased compatibility at syngamy. However, some basidiomycete species retain two mating types, possibly due to constraints applied by their mating system, genetic load around MAT loci, or organelle inheritance being controlled by mating type. Ascomycetes may not be able to evolve multiple mating types due to proximal constraints, but have increased their compatibility at syngamy by homothallism (i.e. reversion to zero functional mating types). Heterothallism is maintained in other species, probably by the same forces that promoted the emergence of mating types, in particular the prevention of intra-haploid mating.
- (4) Further work in fungi clearly are needed, for example on selfing rates in natural populations, the natural frequency of intra-haploid matings in homothallic species, the cost of waiting for a mate, the dispersal range of gametes, the existence and strength of inbreeding depression, and the shape of functions linking zygote size and fitness.

VI. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Robert Debuchy, Philippe Silar, Jacqui Shykoff, Xavier Vekemans, Phillipe Callac, Pascal Frey, Laurence Hurst, Thomas Lenormand and all the scientists who participated in the workshop funded by the GDR ComEvol for useful and stimulating discussions. We acknowledge grants ANR-09-0064-01 and NSF-DEB 0747222. S.B. acknowledges post-doctoral grants from the CNRS. We apologize to all those colleagues whose work we may have failed to cite in this article.

VII. REFERENCES

- References preceded by *, ** and *** were used to construct Fig. 5A, B, and C, respectively, and may not have been cited in the main text. See Section VIII for further details.
- AANEN, D. K. & HOEKSTRA, R. F. (2007). Why sex is good: on fungi and beyond. In Sex in fungi: molecular determination and evolutionary implications (ed. J. HEITMAN, J. W. KRONSTAD, J. W. TAYLOR and L. A. CASSELTON) Washington, DC: ASM Press. pp. 527–534.
- AANEN, D. K., KUYPER, T. W., DEBETS, A. J. M. & HOEKSTRA, R. F. (2004). The evolution of non-reciprocal nuclear exchange in mushrooms as a consequence of genomic conflict. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B* 271, 1235–1241.
- *AGUILETA, G., MARTHEY, S., CHIAPELLO, H., LEBRUN, M.-H., RODOLPHE, F., FOURNIER, E., GENDRAULT-JACQUEMARD, A. & GIRAUD, T. (2008). Assessing the performance of single-copy genes for recovering robust phylogenies. *Systematic Biology* 57, 613–627.
- AGRAWAL, A. F. (2006). Similarity selection & the evolution of sex: Revisiting the red queen. *PLoS Biology* 4, e265.
- ***AIMI, T., YOSHIDA, R., ISHIKAWA, M., DAPENG, B. & KITAMOTO, Y. (2005). Identification and linkage mapping of the genes for the putative homeodomain protein (hox1) and the putative pheromone receptor protein homologue (rcb1) in a bipolar basidiomycete, *Pholiota nameko. Current Genetics* 48, 184–194.
- ALBY, K., SCHAEFER, D. & BENNET, R. J. (2009). Homothallic and heterothallic mating in the opportunistic pathogen *Candida albicans. Nature* 460, 890–3.
- ALEXOPOULOS, C. J., MIMS, C. W. & BLACKWELL, M. (1996). Introductory Mycology. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- *ARZANLOU, M., CROUS, P. & ZWIERS, L. H. (2010). Evolutionary dynamics of mating-type loci of Mycosphaerella spp. occurring on banana. Eukaryotic Cell 9, 164–172.
- ***BAKKEREN, G., JIANG, G., WARREN, R. L., BUTTERFIELD, Y., SHIN, H., CHIU, R., LINNING, R., SCHEIN, J., LEE, N., HU, G., KUPFER, D. M., TANG, Y., ROE, B. A., JONES, S., MARRA, M. & KRONSTAD, J. W. (2006). Mating factor linkage and genome evolution in basidiomycetous pathogens of cereals. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* 43, 655–666.
- ****BAKKEREN, G. & KRONSTAD, J. W. (1994). Linkage of mating type loci distinguishes bipolar from tetrapolar mating in basidiomycetous smut fungus. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A.* 91, 7085–7089.
- ****BANUETT, F. (1995). Genetics of Ustilago maydis, a fungal pathogen that induces tumors in maize. Annual review of genetics 29, 179-208.
- BARR, C., NEIMAN, M. & TAYLOR, D. (2005). Inheritance and recombination of mitochondrial genomes in plants, fungi and animals. *New Phytologist* 168, 39–50.
- BARROSO, G. & LABARERE, J. (1995). Molecular organization and heredity of the mitochondrial genome in Basidiomycetes. *Mycoscience* 36, 135–142.
- ****BARROSO, G. & LABARERE, J. (1997). Genetic evidence for nonrandom sorting of mitochondria in the basidiomycete Agrocybe aegerita. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63, 4686-4691.
- ***BEGEROW, D., STOLL, M. & BAUER, R. (2006). A phylogenetic hypothesis of Ustilaginomycotina based on multiple gene analyses and morphological data. *Mycologia* 98, 906–916.
- BELL, G. (1978). The evolution of anisogamy. Journal of Theoretical Biology 73, 247–270.
 BELL, G. (1993). The sexual nature of the eukaryote genome. Journal of Heredity 84,
- 351–359. BERGER, K. H. & YAFFE, M. P. (2000). Mitochondrial DNA inheritance in Saccharomyces
- BERGER, N. H. & YAFFE, M. P. (2000). MItochondrial DNA inheritance in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Trends in Microbiology 8, 508–513.
- BIRDSELL, J. & WILLIS, C. (1996). Significant competitive advantage conferred by meiosis and syngamy in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 93, 908–912.
- BONSALL, M. B. (2006). The evolution of anisogamy: The adaptive significance of damage, repair and mortality. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 238, 198–210.
- BORKHARDT, B. & OLSON, L. W. (1983). Paternal inheritance of the mitochondrial-DNA in interspecific crosses of the aquatic fungus Allomyces. Current Genetics 7, 403–404.
- BRUCKART, W. L. III, ESKANDARI, F. M., BERNER, D. K. & AIME, M. C. (2010). Life cycle of Puccinia acroptili on Rhaponticum (= Acroptilon) repens. Mycologia 102, 62–68.
- BRUGGEMAN, J., DEBETS, A. J. M., WIJNGAARDEN, P. J., DEVISSER, J. A. G. M. & HOEKSTRA, R. F. (2003). Sex slows down the accumulation of deleterious mutations in the homothallic fungus *Aspergillus nidulans. Genetics* 164, 479–485.

BULLER, A. H. R. (1931). Researches on fungi, vol. IV. Longmans, Green & Co., London, United Kingdom.

- BULMER, M. (1994). Theoretical Evolutionary Ecology. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer.
- BULMER, M. G. & PARKER, G. A. (2002). The evolution of anisogamy: a game theoretic approach. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 269, 2381–2388.
- *BURT, A., CARTER, D. A., KOENIG, G. L., WHITE, T. J. & TAYLOR, J. W. (1996). Molecular markers reveal cryptic sex in the human pathogen *Coccidioides immitis*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **93**, 770–773.
- BUTLER, G. (2007). Evolution of the mating-type locus: the ascomycetes. In Sex in fungi: molecular determination and evolutionary implications (ed. J. HEITMAN, J. W. KRONSTAD, J. W. TAYLOR and L. A. CASSELTON) Washington, DC: ASM Press. pp. 3–18.
- **BUTLER, G., KENNY, C., FAGAN, A., KURISCHKO, C., GAILLARDIN, C. & WOLFE, K. H. (2004). Evolution of the MAT locus and its Ho endonuclease in yeast species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101, 1632-7.
- **BUTLER, G., RASMUSSEN, M. D., LIN, M. F., SANTOS, M. A., SAKTHIKUMAR, S., MUNRO, C. A., RHEINBAY, E., GRABHERR, M., FORCHE, A., REEDY, J. L., AGRAFIOTI, I., ARNAUD, M. B., BATES, S., BROWN, A. J., BRUNKE, S., COSTANZO, M. C., FITZPATRICK, D. A., DE GROOT, P. W., HARRIS, D., HOYER, I. L., HUBE, B., KLIS, F. M., KODIRA, C., LENNARD, N., LOGUE, M. E., MARTIN, R., NEIMAN, A. M., NIKOLAOU, E., QUAIL, M. A., QUINN, J., SANTOS, M. C., SCHMITZBERGER, F. F., SHERLOCK, G., SHAH, P., SILVERSTEIN, K. A., SKRZYPEK, M. S., SOLI, D., STAGGS, R., STANSFIELD, I., STUMPF, M. P., SUDBERY, P. E., SRIKANTHA, T., ZENG, Q., BERMAN, J., BERRIMAN, M., HEITMAN, J., GOW, N. A., LORENZ, M. C., BIRREN, B. W., KELLIS, M. & CUOMO, C. A. (2009). Evolution of pathogenicity and sexual reproduction in eight *Candida* genomes. *Nature* 459, 657–62.
- *CAI, L., JEEWON, R. & HYDE, K. D. (2006). Phylogenetic investigations of Sordariaceae based on multiple gene sequences and morphology. *Mycological Research* 110, 137–150.
- ***CALLAC, P., BILLETTE, C., IMBERNON, M. & KERRIGAN, R. W. (1993). Morphological, genetic and interfertility analyses reveal a novel, tetrasporic variety of Agaricus bisporus from the Sonoran Desert of California. Mycologia 85, 835–851.
- CALLAC, P., SPATARO, C., CAILLE, A. & IMBERNON, M. (2006). Evidence for outcrossing via the Buller phenomenon in a substrate simultaneously inoculated with spores and mycelium of *Agaricus bisporus*. *Appllied and Environmental Microbiology* 72, 2366-2372.
- **CAPRIOTTI, A. (1961). Torulopsis castellii sp. nov. a yeast isolated from a Finnish soil. Journal of General Microbiology 26, 41–43.
- CASSELTON, L. A. (2002). Mate recognition in fungi. Heredity 88, 142-147.
- CASSELTON, L. A. & KUES, U. (2007). The origin of multiple mating types in the model mushrooms *Coprinopsis cinerea* and *Schizophyllum commune*. In *Sex in fungi: molecular determination and evolutionary implications* (ed. J. HEITMAN, J. W. KRONSTAD, J. W. TAYLOR and L. A. CASSELTON) Washington, DC: ASM Press. pp. 142–147.
- ***CASSELTON, L. A. & OLESNICKY, N. S. (1998). Molecular genetics of mating recognition in basidiomycete fungi. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews* 62, 55–70.
- ***CHANG, S. W. & JUNG, G. (2008). The first linkage map of the plant-pathogenic basidiomycete *Typhula ishikariensis. Genome* 51, 128–136.
- CHARLESWORTH, B. (1978). The population genetics of anisogamy. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **73**, 347–357.
- CHARLESWORTH, D. & CHARLESWORTH, B. (1979). The evolution and breakdown of S-allele systems. *Heredity* 43, 41–55.
- *CHEN, F. J., GOODWIN, P. H., KHAN, A. & HSIANG, T. (2002). Population structure and mating-type genes of *Colletotrichum graminicola* from *Agrostis palustris. Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 48, 427–436.
- *CISAR, C. R. & TEBEEST, D. O. (1999). Mating system of the filamentous ascomycete, Glomerella cingulata. Current Genetics 35, 127–133.
- ***COELHO, M. A., ROSA, A., RODRIGUES, N., FONSECA, A. & GONÇALVES, P. (2008). Identification of mating type genes in the bipolar basidiomycetous yeast *Rhodosporidium toruloides*: First insight into the MAT locus structure of the Sporidiobolales. *Eukaryotic Cell* 7, 1053–1061.
- COENEN, A., KEVEI, F. & HOEKSTRA, R. F. (1997). Factors affecting the spread of double-stranded RNA viruses in *Aspergillus nidulans*. *Genetical Research* **69**, 1–10.
- *COPPIN, E., DEBUCHY, R., ARNAISE, S. & PICARD, M. (1997). Mating types and sexual development in filamentous ascomycetes. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 61, 411–428.
- CZÁRÁN, T. L. & HOEKSTRA, R. F. (2004). Evolution of asexual asymmetry. BMC Evolutionary Biology 21, 4–34
- DAY, A. W. & GARBER, E. D. (1988). Ustilago violacea, anther smut of the caryophyllaceae. Advances in Plant Pathology 6, 457–482.
- *DEBUCHY, R., BERTEAUX-LECELLIER, V. & SILAR, P. (2010). Mating systems and sexual morphogenesis in Ascomycetes. In *Cellular and Molecular Biology of Filamentous Fungi* (ed. K. A. BORKOVICH, D. J. EBBOLE and M. MOMANY). Washington DC: ASM Press.
- DEVIER, B., AGUILETA, G., HOOD, M. E. & GIRAUD, T. (2009). Ancient transspecific polymorphism at pheromone receptor genes in basidiomycetes. *Genetics* 181, 209–223.
- **DOOIJES, D., VAN DE WETERING, M., KNIPPELS, L. & CLEVERS, H. (1993). The Schizosaccharomyces pombe mating-type gene mat-Mc encodes a sequence-specific

DNA-binding high mobility group box protein. *The Journal of biological chemistry* **268**, 24813–24817.

- **DUJON, B., SHERMAN, D., FISCHER, G., DURRENS, P., CASAREGOLA, S., LAFON-TAINE, I., DE MONTIGNY, J., MARCK, C., NEUVÉGLISE, C., TALLA, E., GOFFARD, N., FRANGEUL, L., AIGLE, M., ANTHOUARD, V., BABOUR, A., BARBE, V., BARNAY, S., BLANCHIN, S., BECKERICH, J. M., BEYNE, E., BLEYKASTEN, C., BOISRAMÉ, A., BOYER, J., CATTOLICO, L., CONFANIOLERI, F., DE DARUVAR, A., DESPONS, L., FABRE, E., FAIRHEAD, C., FERRY-DUMAZET, H., GROPPI, A., HANTRAYE, F., HENNEQUIN, C., JAUNIAUX, N., JOYET, P., KACHOURI, R., KERREST, A., KOSZUL, R., LEMAIRE, M., LESUR, I., MA, L., MULLER, H., NICAUD, J. M., NIKOLSKI, M., OZTAS, S., OZIER-KALOGEROPOULOS, O., PELLENZ, S., POTIER, S., RICHARD, G. F., STRAUB, M. L., SULEAU, A., SWENNEN, D., TEKAIA, F., WÉSOLOWSKI-LOUVEL, M., WESTHOF, E., WIRTH, B., ZENIOU-MEYER, M., ZIVANOVIC, I., BOLOTIN-FUKUHARA, M., THIERRY, A., BOUCHIER, C., CAU-DRON, B., SCARPELII, C., GAILLARDIN, C., WEISSENBACH, J., WINCKER, P. & SOUCIET, J. L. (2004). Genome evolution in yeasts. *Nature* 430, 35–44.
- DUSENBERY, D. B. (2000). Selection for high gamete encounter rates explains the success of male and female mating types. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 202, 1–10.
- DUSENBERY, D. B. (2006). Selection for high gamete encounter rates explains the evolution of anisogamy using plausible assumptions about size relationships of swimming speed and duration. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 241, 33–38.
- *EKINS, M., AITKEN, E. A. & COULTER, K. C. (2006). Homothallism in Sclerotinia minor. Mycological Research 110, 1193–1199.
- *ESPAGNE, E., LESPINET, O., MALAGNAC, F., DA SILVA, C., JAILLON, O., PORCEL, B. M., COULOUX, A., SÉGURENS, B., POULAIN, J., ANTHOUARD, V., GROSSETETE, S., KHALILI, H., COPPIN, E., DEQUARD-CHABLAT, M., PICARD, M., CONTAMINE, V., ARNAISE, S., BOURDAIS, A., BERTEAUX-LECELLIER, V., GAUTHERET, D., DE VRIES, R. P., BATTAGLIS, A., BERTEAUX-LECELLIER, V., GAUTHERET, D., DE VRIES, R. P., BATTAGLIS, E., COUTINHO, P. M., DANCHIN, E. G. J., HENRISSAT, B., EL KHOURY, R., SAINSARD-CHANET, A., BOIVIN, A., PINAN-LUCARRÉ, B., SELLEM, C. H., DEBUCHY, R., WINCKER, P., WEISSENBACH, J. & SILAR, P. (2008). The genome sequence of the model ascomycete fungus *Podospora anserine. Genome Biology* 9, R77.
- **FABRE, E., MULLER, H., THERIZOLS, P., LAFONTAINE, I., DUJON, B. & FAIR-HEAD, C. (2005). Comparative genomics in hemiascomycete yeasts: evolution of sex, silencing, and subtelomeres. *Molecular biology and evolution* 22, 856–873.
- *FARETRA, F. & POLLASTRO, S. (1996). Genetic studies of the phytopathogenic fungus Botryotinia fuckeliana (Botrytis cinerea) by analysis of ordered tetrads. Mycological Research 100, 620-624.
- *FISHER, M. C. (2007). The evolutionary implications of an asexual lifestyle manifested by *Pencillium marneffei*. In *Sex in fungi: molecular determination and evolutionary implications* (ed. J. HEITMAN, J. W. KRONSTAD, J. W. TAYLOR and L. A. CASSELTON) Washington, DC: ASM Press. pp. 201–212.
- FRASER, J. A. & HEITMAN, J. (2005). Chromosomal sex-determining regions in animals, plants and fungi. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development 15, 645–651.
- *FRASER, J. A., HSUEH, Y. P., FINDLEY, K. M. & HEITMAN, J. (2007). Evolution of the mating-type locus: the basidiomycetes. In Sex in fungi: molecular determination and evolutionary implications (ed. J. HEITMAN, J. W. KRONSTAD, J. W. TAYLOR and L. A. CASSELTON) Washington, DC: ASM Press. pp. 19–34.
- ****FUKUDA, M., HARADA, Y., IMAHORI, S., FUKUMASA-NAKAI, Y. & HAYASHI, Y. (1995). Inheritance of mitochondrial DNA in sexual crosses and protoplast cell fusions in *Lentinula edodes. Current Genetics* 27, 550–554.
- *GALAGAN, J. E., CALVO, S. E., CUOMO, C., MA, L. J., WORTMAN, J. R., BATZOGLOU, S., LEE, S. I., BAŞTÜRKMEN, M., SPEVAK, C. C., CLUTTERBUCK, J., KAPITONOV, V., JURKA, J., SCAZZOCCHIO, C., FARMAN, M., BUTLER, J., PURCELL, S., HARRIS, S., BRAUS, G. H., DRAHT, O., BUSCH, S., D'ENFERT, C., BOUCHIER, C., GOLD-MAN, G. H., BELL-PEDERSEN, D., GRIFFITHS-JONES, S., DOONAN, J. H., YU, J., VIENKEN, K., PAIN, A., FREITAG, M., SELKER, E. U., ARCHER, D. B., PEÑALVA, M. A., OAKLEY, B. R., MOMANY, M., TANAKA, T., KUMAGAI, T., ASAI, K., MACHIDA, M., NIERMAN, W. C., DENNING, D. W., CADDICK, M., HYNES, M., PAOLETTI, M., FISCHER, R., MILLER, B., DYER, P., SACHS, M. S., OSMANI, S. A. & BIRREN, B. W. (2005). Sequencing of Aspergillus nidulans and comparative analysis with A. fumigatus and A. oryzae. Nature 438, 1105–1115.
- *GALLEGOS, A., JACOBSON, D. J., RAJU, N. B., SKUPSKI, M. P. & NATVIG, D. O. (2000). Suppressed recombination and a pairing anomaly on the mating-type chromosome of *Neurospora tetrasperma. Genetics* **154**, 623–633.
- *GARCÍA-SERRANO, M., ALFARO LAGUNA, E., RODRÍGUEZ-GUERRA, R. & SIMPSON, J. (2009). Analysis of the MAT1-2-1 gene of *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum*. Mycoscience 50, 244–244.
- GIRAUD, T., YOCKTENG, R., LOPEZ-VILLAVICENCIO, M., REFREGIER, G. & HOOD, M. E. (2008). The mating system of the anther smut fungus, *Microbotryum violaceum*: selfing under heterothallism. *Eukaryotic Cell* 7, 765–775.
- GLASS, N. L., JACOBSON, D. J. & SHIU, P. K. T. (2000). The genetics of hyphal fusion and vegetative incompatibility in filamentous ascomycete fungi. *Annual Review of Genetics* 34, 65–186.
- GLASS, N. L. & KULDAU, G. A. (1992). Mating type and vegetative incompatibility in filamentous Ascomycetes. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* **30**, 201–224.

- *GUADET, J., JULIEN, J., LAFAY, J. F. & BRYGOO, Y. (1989). Phylogeny of some Fusarium species, as determined by large-subunit rRNA sequence comparison. Molecular Biology and Evolution 6, 227–242.
- HAAG, E. S. (2007). Why two sexes? Sex determination in multicellular organisms and protistan mating types. Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology 18, 348–349.
- HAEDENS, V., MALAGNAC, F. & SILAR, P. (2005). Genetic control of an epigenetic cell degeneration syndrome in *Podospora anserina. Fungal Genetics and Biology* 42, 564–577.
- **HERMAN, A. & ROMAN, H. (1966). Allele specific determinants of homothallism in Saccharomyces lactis. Genetics 53, 727-740.
- ***HIBBETT, D. S. (2006). A phylogenetic overview of the Agaricomycotina. Mycologia 98, 917–925
- ****HIBBETT, D. S & DONOGHUE, M. J. (2001). Analysis of character correlations among wood decay mechanisms, mating systems, and substrate ranges in Homobasidiomycetes. Systematic biology 50, 215–242.
- ***HINTZ, W. E. A., ANDERSON, J. B. & HORGEN, P. (1988). Nuclear migration and mitochondrial inheritance in the mushroom Agaricus bitorquis. Genetics 119, 35–41.
- HOEKSTRA, R. F. (1982). On the asymmetry of sex: evolution of mating types in isogamous populations. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **98**, 427-451.
- HOEKSTRA, R. F. (1984). Evolution of gamete motility differences. II. Interaction with the evolution of anisogamy. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **107**, 71–83.
- HOEKSTRA, R. F. (1987). The evolution of sexes. In The Evolution of Sex and Its Consequences (ed. S. C. STEARNS), Basel, Birkhaeuser Verlag, pp 59–91.
- HOEKSTRA, R. F. (1990). The evolution of male-female dimorphism: older than sex? *Journal of Genetics* **69**, 11–15.
- HOEKSTRA, R. F., IWASA, Y. & WEISSING, F. (1990). The origin of isogamous sexual differentiation. In *Evolution and Game Dynamics vol. 1* (ed. R. SELTEN). Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- HOEKSTRA, R. F., JANZ, R. F. & SCHILSTRA, A. J. (1984). Evolution of gamete motility dilerences. II. Relation between swimming speed and pheromonal attraction. *Journal* of *Theoretical Biology* **107**, 57–70.
- *HOFF, B., PÖGGELER, S. & KÖCK, U. (2008). Eighty years after its discovery, Fleming's Penicillium strain discloses the secret of its sex. Eukaryotic Cell 7, 465–470.
- *HOLST-JENSEN, A., VAAGE, M. & SCHUMACHER, T. (1998). An approximation to the phylogeny of Sclerotinia and related genera. Nordic Journal of Botany 18, 705–719.
- HOOD, M. E. (2002). Dimorphic mating-type chromosomes in the fungus *Microbotryum* violaceum. Genetics 160, 457–461.
- *HORIE, Y., ABLIZ, P., FUKUSHIMA, K., OKADA, K. & TAKAKI, G. M. C. (2003). Two new species of *Neosartorya* from Amazonian soil, Brazil. *Mycoscience* 44, 397–402.
- *HORIE, Y., MIYAJI, M., NISHIMURA, K., FRANCO, M. & COELHO, K. (1995). Two new species of *Neosartorya* from Brazilian soil. *Mycoscience* **36**, 159–165.
- *HORN, B. W., MOORE, G. G., CARBONE, I. (2009a). Sexual reproduction in Aspergillus flavus. Mycologia 101, 423–429.
- *HORN, B. W., RAMIREZ-PRADO, J. & CARBONE, I. (2009b). The sexual state of Aspergillus parasiticus. Mycologia 101, 275–280.
- *HOUBRAKEN, J., VARGA, J., RICO-MUNOZ, E., JOHNSON, S. & SAMSON, R. A. (2008). Sexual reproduction as the cause of heat resistance in the food spoilage fungus *Byssochlanys spectabilis* (anamorph *Paecilomyces variotii*). *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 74, 1613–1619.
- *HUHNDORF, S. M., MILLER, A. N. & FERNANDEZ, F. A. (2004). Molecular systematics of the *Sordariales*: the order and the family *Lasiosphaeriaceae* redefined. *Mycologia* 96, 368–387.
- HURST, L. D. (1996). Why are there only two sexes? Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 263, 415–422.
- HURST, L. D. & HAMILTON, W. D. (1992). Cytoplasmic fusion and the nature of the sexes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 247, 189–194.
- HUTSON, V. & LAW, R. (1993). Four steps to two sexes. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 253, 43–51.
- ***IMBERNON, M., CALLAC, P., GRANIT, S. & PIROBE, L. (1995). Allelic polymorphism at the mating type locus in *Agaricus bisporus var. burnettii* and confirmation of the dominance of its tetrasporic trait. *Mushroom Science* 14, 11–19.
- *INDERBITZIN, P., HARKNESS, J., TURGEON, B. G. & BERBEE, M. L. (2005). Lateral transfer of mating system in Stemphylium. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102, 11390–11395.

IWASA, Y. & SASAKI, A. (1987). Evolution of the number of sexes. *Evolution* 41, 49–65.
IYER, P. & ROUGHGARDEN, J. (2008). Gametic conflict versus contact in the evolution

of anisogamy. Theoretical Population Biology 73, 461–472. *JAMES, T. Y., KAUFF, F., SCHOCH, C. L., MATHENY, P. B., HOFSTETTER, V., COX, C. J., CELIO, G., GUEIDAN, C., FRAKER, E., MIADLIKOWSKA, J., LUMB-SCH, T., RAUHUT, A., REEB, V., ARNOLD, A. E., AMTOFT, A., STAJICH, J. E., HOSAKA, K., SUNG, G.-H., JOHNSON, D., O'ROURKE, B., BINDER, M., CUR-TIS, J. M., SLOT, J. C., WANG, Z., WILSON, A. W., SCHÜSSLER, A., LONCCORE, J. E., O'DONNELL, K., MOZLEY-STANDRIDGE, K., PORTER, D., LETCHER, P. M., POWELL, M. J., TAYLOR, J. W., WHITE, M. M., GRIFFITH, G. W., DAVIES, D. R., SUGIYAMA, J., ROSSMAN, A. Y., ROGERS, J. D., PFISTER, D. H., HEWITT, D., HANSEN, K., HAMBLETON, S., SHOEMAKER, R. A., KOHLMEYER, J. I., VOLKMANN-KOHLMEYER, B., SPOTTS, R. A., SERDANI, M., CROUS, P. W., HUGHES, K. W., MATSUURA, K., LANGER, E., LANGER, G., UNTEREINER, W. A., LÜCKING, R., BÜDEL, B., GEISER, D. M., APTROOT, A., BUCK, W. R., COLE, M. S., DIEDERICH, P., PRINTZEN, C., SCHMITT, I., SCHULTZ, M., YAHR, R., ZAVARZIN, A., HIBBETT, D. S., LUTZONI, F., MCLAUGHLIN, D. J., SPATAFORA, J. W. & VILGALYS, R. (2006). Reconstructing the early evolution of Fungi using a six-gene phylogeny. *Nature* **443**, 818–822.

- ****JAMES, T. Y., LIOU, S.-R. & VILGALYS, R. (2004). The genetic structure and diversity of the A and B mating-type genes from the tropical oyster mushroom, *Pleurotus djamor. Fungal Genetics and Biology* **41**, 813–825
- ***JAMES, T. Y., SRIVILAI, P., KÜES, U. & VILGALYS, R. (2006). Evolution of the bipolar mating system of the mushroom *Coprinellus disseminatus* from its tetrapolar ancestors involves loss of mating-type-specific pheromone receptor function. *Genetics* 172, 1877–1891.
- ****JIN, T. & HORGEN, P. (1994). Uniparental mitochondrial transmission in the cultivated button mushroom, Agaricus bisporus. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 60, 4456–4460.
- KATZ EZOV, T., CHANG, S.-L., FRENKEL, Z., SEGRÈ, A. V., BAHALUL, M., MURRAY, A. W., LEU, J.-Y., KOROL, A. & KASHI, Y. (2010). Heterothallism in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* isolates from nature: effect of HO locus on the mode of reproduction. *Molecular Ecology* 19, 121–131.
- KAWANO, S., KUROIWA, T. & ANDERSON, R. W. (1987). A third multiallelic mating type locus in *Physarum polycephalum. Journal of General Microbiology* 133, 2539–2546.
- **KELLY, M., BURKE, J., SMITH, M., KLAR, A. & BEACH, D. (1988). Four matingtype genes control sexual differentiation in the fission yeast. *The EMBO Journal* 7, 1537–1547.
- KOHTE, E., GOLA, S. & WENDLAND, J. (2003). Evolution of multispecific mating-type alleles for pheromone perception in the homobasidiomycete fungi. *Current Genetics* 42, 268–275.
- **KURISCHKO, C., FOURNIER, P., CHASLES, M., WEBER, H. & GAILLARDIN, C. (1992). Cloning of the mating-type gene MATA of the yeast *Yarrowia lipolytica*. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* 232, 423–426.
- ****KURTZMAN**, C. P. (2003). Phylogenetic circumscription of Saccharomyces, Kluyveromyces and other members of the Saccharomycetaceae, and the proposal of the new genera Lachancea, Nakaseomyces, Naumovia, Vanderwaltozyma and Zygotorulaspora. *FEMS Yeast Research* **4**, 233–45.
- *KWON-CHUNG, K. J. (1972). Emmonsiella capsulata: perfect state of Histoplasma capsulatum. Science 177, 368–369.
- *KWON-CHUNG, K. J. & KIM, S. J. (1974). A second heterothallic Aspergillus. Mycologia 56, 628-638.
- *KWON-CHUNG, K. J., WEEKS, R. J. & LARSH, H. W. (1974). Studies on Emmonsiella capsulata (Histoplasma capsulatum). II. Distribution of the two mating types in 13 endemic states of the United States. American Journal of Epidemiology 99, 44–49.
- ****LARRAYA, L. M., PÉREZ, G., IRIBARREN, I., BLANCO, J. A., ALFONSO, M., PISABARRO, A. G. & RAMÍREZ, L. (2001). Relationship between monokaryotic growth rate and mating type in the edible basidiomycete *Pleurotus ostreatus. Applied* and Environmental Microbiology 67, 3385–3390
- ****LARSSON, K.-H. (2007). Re-thinking the classification of corticioid fungi. Mycological research 111, 1040–1063.
- ***LEE, N., BAKKEREN, G., WONG, K., SHERWOOD, J. E. & KRONSTAD, J. W. (1999). The mating-type and pathogenicity locus of the fungus Ustilago hordei spans a 500-kb region. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 96, 15026-15031.
- *LEE, S. & HANLIN, R. T. (1999). Phylogenetic relationships of *Chaetomium* and similar genera based on ribosomal DNA sequences. *Mycologia* 91, 434–442.
- LEE, S. B. & TAYLOR, J. W. (1993). Uniparental inheritance and replacement of mitochondrial-DNA in *Neurospora tetrasperma. Genetics* 134, 1063–1075.
- ****LENGELER, K. B., FOX, D. S., FRASER, J. A., ALLEN, A., FORRESTER, K., DIET-RICH, F. S. & HEITMAN, J. (2002) Mating-type locus of *Cryptococcus neoformans*: a step in the evolution of sex chromosomes. *Eukaryotic Cell* 1, 704–718.
- *LESLIE, J. F. & RAJU, N. B. (1985). Recessive mutations from natural populations of *Neurospora crassa* that are expressed in the sexual diplophase. *Genetics* 111, 759–777.
- LIN, X. & HEITMAN, J. (2007). Mechanisms of homothallism in Fungi and transitions between heterothallism and homothallism. In *Sex in fungi: molecular determination and evolutionary implications* (ed. J. HEITMAN, J. W. KRONSTAD, J. W. TAYLOR and L. A. CASSELTON). Washington, DC: ASM Press.
- ****LIN, X., LITVINTSEVA, A. P., NIELSEN, K., PATEL, S., FLOYD, A., MITCHELL, T. G. & HEITMAN, J. (2007). αADα Hybrids of *Cryptococcus neoformans*: Evidence of same-sex mating in nature and hybrid fitness. *PLoS Genetics* 3, e186.
- LINK, G. (1929). Reproduction in Thallophytes with special reference to fungi. *Botanical Gazette* 88, 1–37.
- *LOBUGLIO, K. F., PITT, J. I. & TAYLOR, J. W. (1993). Phylogenetic analysis of two ribosomal DNA regions indicates multiple independent losses of a sexual *Talaromyces* state among asexual *Penicillium* species in Subgenus *Biverticillium*. *Mycologia* 85, 592–604.
- MAIRE, N., ACKERMANN, M. & DOEBELLI, M. (2001). Evolutionary branching and the evolution of anisogamy. *Selection* **2**, 119–131.
- *MANDEL, M. A., BARKER, B. M., KROKEN, S., ROUNSLEY, S. D. & ORBACH, M. J. (2007). Genomic and population analyses of the mating type loci in *Coccidioides* species reveal evidence for sexual reproduction and gene acquisition. *Eukaryotic Cell* 6, 1189–1199.

- *MARRA, R. E. & MILGROOM, M. G. (2001). The mating system of the fungus Cryphonectria parasitica: selfing and self-incompatibility. Heredity 86, 134–143.
- ****MATHENY, P. B., WANG, Z., BINDER, M., CURTIS, J. M., LIM, Y. W., NILSSON, H. R., HUGHES, K. W., HOFSTETTER, V., AMMIRATI, J. F., SCHOCH, C., LANGER, E., LANGER, G., MCLAUGHLIN, D. J., WILSON, A. W., FRØSLEV, T., GE, Z. W., KERRIGAN, R. W., SLOT, J. C., YANG, Z. L., BARONI, T. J., FISCHER, M., HOSAKA, K., MATSUURA, K., SEIDL, M. T., VAURAS, J. & HIBBETT, D. S. (2007) Contributions of rpb2 and tefl to the phylogeny of mushrooms and allies (Basidiomycota, Fungi). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 430–451
- MATSUDA, H. & ABRAMS, P. A. (1999). Why are equally sized gametes so rare? The instability of isogamy and the cost of anisogamy. *Evolutionary Ecology Research* 1, 769–784.
- MAY, G., SHAW, F., BADRANE, H. & VEKEMANS, X. (1999). The signature of balancing selection: fungal mating compatibility gene evolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences U.S.A. 96, 9172–9177.
- ***MAY, G. & TAYLOR, J. W. (1988). Patterns of mating and mitochondrial DNA inheritance in the agaric basidiomycete *Coprinus cinereus*. *Genetics* 118, 213–220.
- *MAY, G. & TAYLOR, J. W. (1989). Independent transfer of mitochondrial plasmids in Neurospora crassa. Nature 339, 320–322.
- MAYNARD SMITH, J. (1978). The evolution of sex. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- MAYNARD SMITH, J. (1982). Evolution and the theory of games. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- MAYNARD SMITH, J. & SZATHMARY, E. (1995). The major transitions in evolution. Oxford University Press, New York.
- *MCGUIRF, I. C., MARRA, R. E. & MILGROOM, M. G. (2004). Mating-type heterokaryosis and selfing in *Cryphonectria parasitica*. Fungal Genetics and Biology 41, 521–533.
- ***MEINHARDT, F. & LESLIE, J. F. (1982). Mating types of Agrocybe aegerita. Current Genetics 5, 65–68.
- MELAND, S., JOHANSEN, S., JOHANSEN, T., HAUGLI, K. & HAUGLI, F. (1991). Rapid disappearance of one parental mitochondrial genotype after isogamous mating in the myxomycete *Physarum polycephalum*. *Current Genetics* 19, 55–60.
- *METZENBERG, R. L. & GLASS, N. L. (1990). Mating type and mating strategies in *Neurospora. Bioessays* **12**, 53–59.
- MILGROOM, M. G. & LIPARI, S. E. (1993). Maternal inheritance and diversity of mitochondrial-DNA in the chestnut blight fungus, *Cryphonectria parasitica*. *Phytopathology* 83, 563–567.
- MORIYAMA, Y. & KAWANO, S. (2003). Rapid, selective digestion of mitochondrial DNA in accordance with the matA hierarchy of multiallelic mating types in the mitochondrial inheritance of *Physarum polycephalum. Genetics* 164, 963–975.
- ***MULLER, H., HENNEQUIN, C., DUJON, B. & FAIRHEAD, C. (2007). Comparing MAT in the genomes of hemiascomycetous yeasts. In Sex in fungi: molecular determination and evolutionary implications (ed. J. HEITMAN, J. W. KRONSTAD, J. W. TAYLOR and L. A. CASSELTON) Washington, DC: ASM Press.
- NAUTA, M. J. & HOEKSTRA, R. F. (1992). Evolution of reproductive systems in filamentous ascomycetes. I. Evolution of mating types. *Heredity* **68**, 405–410.
- ****NICULITA-HIRZEL, H., LABBÉ, J., KOHLER, A., LE TACON, F., MARTIN, F., SANDERS, I. R. & KÜES, U. (2008). Gene organization of the mating type regions in the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Laccaria bicolor* reveals distinct evolution between the two mating type loci. *New Phytologist* 180, 329–342
- *O'DONNELL, K. (2000). Molecular phylogeny of the Nectria haematococca-Fusarium solani species complex. Mycologia 92, 919–938.
- *O'DONNELL, K., WARD, T. J., GEISER, D. M., KISTLER, H. C. & AOKI, T. (2004). Genealogical concordance between the mating type locus and seven other nuclear genes supports formal recognition of nine phylogenetically distinct species within the *Fusarium graminearum* clade. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **41**, 600–623.
- *O'GORMAN, C. M., FULLER, H. T. & DYER, P. S. (2009). Discovery of a sexual cycle in the opportunistic fungal pathogen Aspergillus fumigatus. Nature 457, 471–474.
- OTTO, S. P. (2009). The evolutionary enigma of sex. The American Naturalist 174, S1-S14.
- OUDEMANS, P. V., ALEXANDER, H. M., ANTONOVICS, J., ALTIZER, S., THRALL, P. H. & ROSE, L. (1998). The distribution of mating-type bias in natural populations of the anther-smut Ustilago violacea on Silene alba in Virginia. Mycologia 90, 372–381.
- *PAOLETTI, M., BUCK, K. W. & BRASIER, C. M. (2006). Selective acquisition of novel mating type and vegetative incompatibility genes via interspecies gene transfer in
- the globally invading eukaryote *Ophiostoma novo-ulmi*. *Molecular Ecology* **15**, 249–262. **PARKER**, G. A. (1978). Selection on non-random fusion of gametes during the evolution of anisogamy. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **73**, 1–28.
- PARKER, G. A., BAKER, R. R. & SMITH, V. G. F. (1972). The origin and evolution of gamete dimorphism and the male-female phenomenon. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 36, 181–198.
- *PAULIN-MAHADY, A. E., HARRINGTON, T. & MCNEW, D. (2002). Phylogenetic and taxonomic evaluation of *Chalara, Chalaropsis*, and *Thielaviopsis* anamorphs associated with *Ceratocystis. Mycologia* 94, 62–72.
- *PETERSON, S. W. (2008). Phylogenetic analysis of Aspergillus species using DNA sequences from four loci. Mycologia 100, 205–226.

- ***PILOTTI, C. A., SANDERSON, F. R. & AITKEN, E. A. B. (2002). Sexuality and interactions of monokaryotic and dikaryotic mycelia of *Ganoderma boninense*. Mycological Research 106, 1315–1322.
- *Pöggeler, S. (1999). Phylogenetic relationships between mating-type sequences from homothallic and heterothallic ascomycetes. *Current Genetics* 36, 222–231.
- PONTECORVO, G., ROPER, J. A., HEMMONS, L. M., MACDONALD, K. D. & BUFTON, A. W. J. (1953). The genetics of Aspergillus nidulans. Advanced Genetics 5, 141–238.
- PORCHER, E. & LANDE, R. (2005). Loss of gametophytic self-incompatibility with evolution of inbreeding depression. *Evolution* 59, 46–60.
- ***QU, P., YAMASHITA, K., TODA, T., PRIYATMOJO, A., KUBOTA, M., and HYAKUMACHI, M. (2008). Heterokaryon formation in *Thanatephonus cucumeris* (*Rhizoctonia solani*) AG-1 IC. *Mycological Research* **112**, 1088–1100.
- *RADEMAKER, M. C. & DE JONG, T. J. (2000). Testing sex allocation theory: flowers vs. seeds in hermaphrodite plants. Oikas 91, 115–122.
- *RAJU, N. B. & PERKINS, D. D. (1994). Diverse programs of ascus development in pseudohomothallic species of *Neurospora*, *Gelasinospora*, and *Podospora*. *Developmental Genetics* 15, 104–118.
- *RAMIREZ-PRADO, J. H., MOORE, G. G., HORN, B. W. & CARBONE, I. (2008). Characterization and population analysis of the mating-type genes in Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus. Fungal Genetics and Biology 45, 1292–1299.
- RANDERSON, J. P. & HURST, L. D. (1999). Small sperm, uniparental inheritance and selfish cytoplasmic elements: a comparison of two models. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 12, 1110–1124.
- REBOUD, X. & ZEYL, C. (1994). Organelle inheritance in plants. *Heredity* 72, 132–140.
 RICHMAN, A. (2000). Evolution of balanced genetic polymorphism. *Molecular Ecology* 9, 1953–1963.
- RIZET, G. (1943). Recherche sur la génétique des Ascomycètes. Etude expérimentale du Podospora anserina. Doctorat d'Etat. Université de Paris.
- *ROBERTSON, S. J., BOND, D. J. & READ, N. D. (1998). Homothallism and heterothallism in Sordaria brevicollis. Mycological Research 102, 1215–1223.
- ROGERS, H. J., BUCK, K. W. & BRASIER, C. M. (1986). Transmission of doublestranded RNA and a disease factor in *Ophiostoma ulmi*. *Plant Pathology* 35, 277–287.
- *RYDHOLM, C., DYER, P. S. & LUTZONI, F. (2007). DNA sequence characterization and molecular evolution of MAT1 and MAT2 mating-type loci of the self-compatible ascomycete mold *Neosartorya fischeri. Eukaryotic Cell* 6, 868–874.
- SCHEER, M. A. & SILLIKER, M. E. (2006). Mitochondrial inheritance patterns in Didymium iridis are not influenced by stage of mating competency. Mycologia 98, 51-56.
- ***SCHIRAWSKI, J., HEINZE, B., WAGENKNECHT, M. & KAHMANN, R. (2005). Mating type loci of Sporisorium reilianum: Novel pattern with three a and multiple b specificities. Eukaryotic Cell 4, 1317–1327.
- *SETH, H. K. (1967). Studies on the Genus Chaetomium. I. Heterothallism. Mycologia 59, 580–584.
- SILLIKER, M. E., LILES, J. L. & MONROE, J. A. (2002). Patterns of mitochondrial inheritance in the myxogastrid, *Didymium iridis*. *Mycologia* 94, 939–946.
- SINCLAIR, D., MILLS, K. & GUARENTE, L. (1998). Aging in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Annual Review of Microbiology 52, 533–560.
- ****SMITH, M. L., DUCHESNE, L. C., BRUHN, J. N. & ANDERSON, J. B. (1990). Mitochondrial genetics in a natural population of the plant pathogen Armillaria. Genetics 126, 575–582.
- ***SPECHT, C. A., NOVOTNY, C. P. & ULLRICH, R. C. (1992). Mitochondrial DNA of *Schizophyllum commune* : restriction map, genetic map, and mode of inheritance. *Current Genetics* 22, 129–134.
- *STAATS, M., VAN BAARLEN, P. & VAN KAN, J. A. L. (2005). Molecular phylogeny of the plant pathogenic genus *Botrytis* and the evolution of host specificity. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 22, 333–346.
- STANTON, B. & HULL, C. (2007). Mating-type locus control of cell identity. In Sex in fungi: molecular determination and evolutionary implications (ed. J. HEITMAN, J. W. KRONSTAD, J. W. TAYLOR and L. A. CASSELTON) Washington, DC: ASM Press. pp. 59–74.
- STRATHERN, J. N., KLAR, A. J., HICKS, J. B., ABRAHAM, J. A., IVY, J. M., NASMYTH, K. A. & MCGILL, C. (1982). Homothallic switching of yeast mating type cassettes is initiated by a double-stranded cut in the *MAT* locus. *Cell* **31**, 183–92.
- *TAKADA, M., HORIE, Y. & ABLIZ, P. (2001). Two new heterothallic *Neosartorya* from African soil. *Mycoscience* 42, 361–367.
- *TAKADA, M. & UDAGAWA, S. (1988). A new species of heterothallic Talaromyces. Mycotaxon 31, 417–425.
- ***TANAKA, A., MIYAZAKI, K., MURAKAMI, H. & SHIRAISHI, S. (2004). Sequence characterized amplified region markers tightly linked to the mating factors of *Lentinula edodes. Genome* 47, 156–162.
- TAYLOR, D., ZEYL, C. & COOKE, E. (2002). Conflicting levels of selection in the accumulation of mitochondrial defects in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 99, 3690–3694.
- THOMAS, A., SHYKOFF, J., JONOT, O. & GIRAUD, T. (2003). Mating-type ratio bias in populations of the phytopathogenic fungus Microbotryum violaceum from several host species. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 164, 641–647.

- TOGASHI, T., SAKISAKA, Y., MIYAZAKI, T., NAGISA, M., NAKAGIRI, N., YOSHIMURA, J., TAINAKA, K., COX, P. A. & BARTELT, J. L. (2009). Evolution of gamete size in primitive taxa without mating types. *Population Ecology* **51**, 83–88.
- TREDWAY, L. P., STEVENSON, K. L. & BURPEE, L. L. (2003). Mating type distribution and fertility status in *Magnaporthe grisea* populations from turf grasses in Georgia. *Plant Disease* 87, 435–441.
- **TSAI, I. J., BENSASSON, D., BURT, A. & KOUFOPANOU, V. (2008). Population genomics of the wild yeast Saccharomyces paradoxus: Quantifying the life cycle. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 105, 4957–4962.
- *UHM, J. Y. & FUJI, H. (1983). Heterothallism and Mating Type Mutation in Sclerotinia trifoliorum. Phytopathology 73, 569–572.
- UYENOYAMA, M. K. (1988a). On the evolution of genetic incompatibility systems. II. Initial increase of strong gametophytic self-incompatibility under partial selfing and half-sib mating. *The American Naturalist* **131**, 700–722.
- UYENOYAMA, M. K. (1988*b*). On the evolution of genetic incompatibility systems. III. Introduction of weak gametophytic selfincompatibility under partial inbreeding. *Theoretical Popululation Biology* **34**, 47–91.
- UYENOYAMA, M. K. (1997). Genealogical structure among alleles regulating selfincompatibility in natural populations of flowering plants. *Genetics* 147, 1389–1400.
- *VALENT, B. & CHUMLEY, F. G. (1991). Molecular genetic analysis of the rice blast fungus, Magnaporthe grisea. Annual Review of Phytopathology 29, 443–467.
- ***VAN DER NEST, M. A., SLIPPERS, B., STENLID, J., WILKEN, P. M., VASAITIS, R., et al. (2008). Characterization of the systems governing sexual and self-recognition in the white rot homobasidiomycete Amylostereum areolatum. Current Genetics 53, 323-336.
- *VARGA, J., TOTH, B., KEVEI, E., PALAGYI, A. & KOZAKIEWICZ, Z. (2000). Analysis of genetic variability within the genus *Petronyces. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* 77, 83–89.
- *WALLWIJK, C., MENDES, O., VERSTAPPEN, E. C., DE WAARD, M. A. & KEMA, G. H. (2002). Isolation and characterization of the mating-type idiomorphs from the wheat septoria leaf blotch fungus *Mycosphaerella graminicola*. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* 35, 277–286.
- *WIK, L., KARLSSON, M. & JOHANNESSON, H. (2008). The evolutionary trajectory of the mating-type (mat) genes in *Neurospora* relates to reproductive behavior of taxa. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 8, 109.
- WILCH, G., WARD, S. & CASTLE, A. (1992). Transmission of mitochondrial DNA in Ustilago violacea. Current genetics 22, 135–140.
- *WITTHUHN, R. C., HARRINGTON, T. C., WINGFIELD, B. D., STEIMEL, J. P. & WINGFIELD, M. J. (2000). Deletion of the MAT-2 mating-type gene during unidirectional mating-type switching in *Ceratocystis. Current Genetics* 38, 48–52.
- Xu, J. P. (1995). Analysis of inbreeding depression in Agaricus bisporus. Genetics 141, 137–145.
- Xu, J. P. (2005). The inheritance of organelle genes and genomes: patterns and mechanisms. *Genome* **48**, 951–958.
- XU, J., DESMERGER, C. & CALLAC, P. (2002). Fine-scale genetic analyses reveal unexpected spatial-temporal heterogeneity in two natural populations of the commercial mushroom *Agaricus bisporus*. *Microbiology* **148**, 1253–1262.
- YAMAUCHI, A. (2003). Factors affecting binary sex evolution with respect to avoidance of vertical transmission of deleterious intracellular parasites. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 222, 505–515.

- ***YAN, P.-S., JIANG, J.-H. & CUI, W.-S. (2004). Characterization of protoplasts prepared from the edible fungus, *Stropharia rugoso-annulata*. World journal of microbiology and biotechnology 20, 173–177.
- ***YAN, Z. & XU, J. (2003). Mitochondria are inherited from the MATa parent in crosses of the basidiomycete fungus *Cryptococcus neoformans*. Genetics 163, 1315-1325.
- *YANG, X. & GRIFFITHS, A. J. F. (1993). Male Transmission of Linear Plasmids and Mitochondrial DNA in the Fungus Neurospora. Genetics 134, 1055–1062.
- ***YOCKTENG, R., MARTHEY, S., CHIAPELLO, H., GENDRAULT, A., HOOD, M. E., RODOLPHE, F., DEVIER, B., WINCKER, P., DOSSAT, C. & GIRAUD, T. (2007). Expressed sequences tags of the anther smut fungus, *Microbolryum violaceum*, identify mating and pathogenicity genes. *BMC Genomics* 8, 272.
- YOKOYAMA, S. & HETHERINGTON, L. E. (1982). The expected number of selfincompatibility alleles in finite plant populations. *Heredity* **48**, 299–303.
- *YUN, S. H., ARIE, T., KANEKO, I., YODER, O. C. & TURGEON, B. G. (2000). Molecular organization of mating type loci in heterothallic, homothallic, and asexual *Gibberella/Fusarium* species. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **31**, 7–20.
- *YUN, S.-H., BERBEE, M. L., YODER, O. C. & TURGEON, B. G. (1999). Evolution of the fungal self-fertile reproductive life style from self-sterile ancestors. *Proceedings of* the National Academy of Sciences U.S.A. 96, 5592–5597.
- *ZHAN, J., TORRIANI, S. F. F. & MCDONALD, B. A. (2007). Significant difference in pathogenicity between MAT1-1 and MAT1-2 isolates in the wheat pathogen Mycosphaerella graminicola. Fungal Genetics and Biology 44, 339–346.

VIII. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of this article.

Appendix S1. Supplemental data for Fig. 5A: ascomycete phylogeny.

Appendix S2. Supplemental data for Fig. 5B: hemiascomycete phylogeny.

Appendix S3. Supplemental data for Fig. 5C: basidomycete phylogeny.

Please note: Wiley-Blackwell are not responsible for the content or functionality of any supporting materials supplied by the authors. Any queries (other than missing material) should be directed to the corresponding author for the article.